
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 2 June 2020 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Skype Meeting 

Contact: Gemma Duckworth (0116 3052583) 

Email: gemma.duckworth@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (Chairman) 

 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mrs. C. Lewis 

Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. T. Parton CC 

 

Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

16.  
 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Draft Children and Family Service 
Departmental Plan 2020/23.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 11 - 54) 

9.  
  

Leicestershire Children and Families 
Partnership Plan 2018/21: Progress Update.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 55 - 60) 

10.  
  

Children in Need of Help and Protection.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 61 - 66) 

11.  
  

Leicestershire's Response to Tackling Child 
Criminal Exploitation.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 67 - 74) 

12.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 1 
September 2020 at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 

13.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 3 March 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (in the Chair) 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. L. Phillimore CC 
 

Mrs. J. Richards CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
 

In Attendance. 
 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC – Lead Member for Children and Families 
Mrs. D. Taylor CC – Cabinet Support Member 
 

63. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2020 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

64. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
34. 
 

65. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

66. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

67. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. L. Phillimore CC declared a personal interest in Minute Number 72 as his wife was 
employed by Leicestershire County Council in the Early Years Service. 
 

68. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

69. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  

5 Agenda Item 1



 

 

 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

70. Children's Social Care Investment Plan.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
set out the proposals for the Children’s Social Care Investment Plan to procure four 
properties and commission a new team to provide a new model of residential care for the 
most complex and vulnerable children and young people in Leicestershire.  A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i)  The Children’s Innovation Partnership had been tasked with carrying out a 
number of design briefs, the first of which related to residential care.  The 
proposed solution contained three elements which would be delivered in two 
phases – phase one was the recruitment of a new Assessment and Resource 
Team (ART) and phase two included the development of a Hub containing 
three assessment beds and three multi-functional properties. 

 
ii)  It was noted that the ART would offer similar provision to the current MISTLE 

contract provided by Action for Children.  This would be decommissioned and 
the children and young people currently supported within the MISTLE project 
would transfer to receiving ART support.  The County Council, Barnardo’s and 
Action for Children were working together to consider TUPE implications and to 
ensure continuity of service.  The current contract value of MISTLE was 
£450,000 compared with the annual value of ART of £411,840.  However, it 
was stressed that this had not been developed as a savings initiative but as an 
opportunity to meet the requirements of the service and improve outcomes for 
children and young people. 

 
iii)  In response to a query, it was reported that a period of comprehensive design 

work had been undertaken and this had looked at the current need and the 
profile of young people being worked with.  It was known that more young 
people with complex needs were coming into the system and a primary driver 
had been how best to deal with these needs.  It was the aim to be able to offer 
those with the most complex needs a place where they could be adequately 
assessed.  The work being undertaken would ensure that there was the current 
sufficiency of places and that the young person’s needs were being met. 

 
iv)  It had not yet been identified where the properties would be located; a piece of 

work would be undertaken to ascertain the type of provision required and 
engagement would take place with the local community and elected members 
once an appropriate location had been found.  However, prior to this, a series 
of workshops would be held to consider building design and how they could be 
child needs led; these would involve young people and appropriate 
stakeholders.  It was, as yet, unclear whether the buildings would be bespoke 
or market available.  It was noted that the buildings would be owned by the 
County Council but managed through Barnardo’s, who had significant 
experience in this area. 

 
v)  As part of the comprehensive design work, consideration had been given to 

what was required to support this cohort of young people.  It had been 

6



 

 

identified that a multi-disciplinary team was needed to work around young 
people, either in residential settings or elsewhere.  The notional idea of 
developing the ART had arisen from this.  It was acknowledged that the work of 
MISTLE had been highly successful in stabilising placements and ensuring 
children returned home.  The learning from this had therefore been used to 
build the ART, with the aim of delivering this through a single system. 

 
The Committee noted that a report was being presented to the Cabinet on 24 March 
2020 to seek approval to allocate additional capital investment to the programme.  It was 
agreed that an update on progress with the Residential Design Brief be provided to the 
Committee at its meeting on 1 September and a further progress update be provided in a 
years’ time. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the report be noted; 

 
b) That an update on progress with the Residential Design Brief be provided to the 

Committee in six months; 
 

c) That a further progress update be provided to the Committee in a years’ time. 
 

71. 16+ Semi Independent Accommodation by External Framework.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the 16+ accommodation and support provided by external 
framework to Looked After Children aged 16 and 17 years of age.  A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  It was reported that there were 24 Providers on the 16+ Supported 
Accommodation Framework and there were 96 young people living in 16+ 
semi-independent accommodation.  Concern was raised by a member that 
these young people did not receive enough supervision, particularly those who 
were placed outside of Leicestershire.  It was reported that for some 16 year 
olds, professionals had concerns about them living in semi-independent 
accommodation, in particular those who had lived in residential 
accommodation and had been victims of sexual and criminal exploitation.  
However, where this was the case, robust arrangements were in place to 
ensure that officers knew the whereabouts of these young people and this 
could include initially commissioning 24/7 support during their transition period.  
Where there were significant issues, the young person would revert to 
receiving care, not support. 

 
ii)  A range of mechanisms were in place to ensure that young people were kept 

away from forms of exploitation.  The department worked closely with the 
Home Office in relation to trafficking and modern slavery and there was a 
protocol in place around how to deal with this.  It was stated that East Midlands 
Airport had also developed a protocol around placing trafficked children and 
work took place with relevant authorities. 

 
iii)  Of those living in semi-independent accommodation, 43 were unaccompanied 

asylum seeking children (UASC); 62% of these were placed out of county, with 

7



 

 

a significant number residing in Leicester City.  It was possible to monitor this 
cohort closely due to the small number and to ensure that they had an 
appropriate pathway plan.  It was noted that UASC were likely to be slightly 
older and quite often, their status was not resolved by the age of 18.  It was 
therefore not possible for them to move to housing provision until they had a 
right to remain in the UK as the County Council was responsible for their 
finances.  All UASC were allocated a Personal Advisor, who would work with 
the young person to develop an appropriate pathway plan to help them with 
their individual needs and to integrate into the community.   

 
iv)  It was noted that there were national standards around managing children who 

were placed out of county.  The young person remained the responsibility of 
the home authority who would determine their day to day care and how 
frequently they were visited by their social worker, based on the needs of the 
individual.  If anything critical occurred and there needed to be an investigation, 
the local authority where the young person was placed would co-ordinate this 
until the local authority responsible for the young person could deal with it.  It 
was stated that there were approximately 600 young people living in 
Leicestershire from out of the county; this number was monitored along with 
the number of beds from external providers.  There was also a duty on local 
placing authorities to write to host authorities to inform them when a young 
person was residing in their area. 

 
v)  A query was raised in relation to fully understanding the vulnerability of UASC 

to exploitation.  It was stated that all young people had an individual initial 
assessment to determine their needs and vulnerabilities.  For UASC, it could 
be that little was known to begin with but multi-agency assessments carried out 
by a variety of organisations ensured that they received appropriate support.  
Initially, their educational needs were arranged by the Virtual School.  There 
was clear guidance from the Home Office for staff to check that a UASC was 
the age they were claiming to be; this stated that a five year confidence margin 
had to be considered when determining their age. 

 
vi)  Costs per week for semi-independent accommodation differed and one young 

person was in a Care Quality Commission provision costing £5,625 per week, 
the cost of which was shared with health.  In response to a query, it was 
reported that there was a clear criteria to follow when health was contributing.  
The Complex Care Panel would determine the level of contribution and this 
was largely based on the child’s needs. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

72. Early Support and Inclusion for Children with a Special Educational Need and/or a 
Disability.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update regarding Early Help Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) support to families where a child had a special educational need and/or a 
disability.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

8



 

 

i)  In response to a query around how eligible children were identified, it was 
reported that in many instances, families self-referred to receive support.  In 
order to promote the service, regular newsletters were circulated.  It was 
acknowledged that further work around the clarity of the process was required, 
although information was provided in the Local Offer, which was in the public 
domain.  The link to this information would be sent to elected members to allow 
them to forward the information as appropriate. 

 
ii)  It was the ambition to review the Short Breaks Offer to ensure that it was 

responsive to the needs of families.  Although the feedback from families had 
been very positive, it was felt that there was room for further improvement in 
systems and processes.  The service was working closely with the Parent 
Carer Forum to consider how the current offer could be improved and this work 
was being supported by Barnardo’s. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

73. Final Report of the Scrutiny Review Panel - Multi-Academy Trusts.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Scrutiny Review Panel on Multi-Academy 
Trusts which set out the conclusions and recommendations arising from the Scrutiny 
Review Panel investigation into the structural and operational arrangements of Multi-
Academy Trusts (MATs) managing Leicestershire schools.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Children and Family Services Department had a good relationship with MATs; 
nevertheless there had been a perceived gap in the relationship between local authority 
elected members and MATs.  Members had raised some concerns regarding 
accountability, engagement and the effectiveness of existing structures.  The lack of 
influence that the local authority had over MATs, whilst understood, had also been a 
cause for concern. 
 
The Committee felt that this had been a valuable piece of work and supported  
encouraging elected members to contact their local MATs.  The report would be 
presented to the Cabinet at its meeting on 24 March 2020 and following approval, the 
recommendations suggested in the report would be implemented. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the report be noted; 
 

b) That the Cabinet be advised that this Committee welcomes and supports the 
report.  

 
74. Quarter 3 Performance Report.  

 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and Director of Children 
and Family Services presenting an update of the Children and Family Services 
Department’s performance for the period October to December 2019 (Quarter 3).  A copy 
of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 

9



 

 

 
i)  Concern was raised around the statistic that only 7% of children in 

Leicestershire with an Education, Health and Care Plan had reached the 
expected level in Reading, Writing and Mathematics.  It was possible to break 
this down into individual milestones, but the figure was similar to the statistical 
neighbour average.  It was acknowledged that children with EHCPs had very 
different learning needs and styles but consideration was being given as to why 
the percentage was so low.   

 
ii)  The percentage of children who were eligible for Free School Meals who had 

reached the expected level of Reading, Writing and Mathematics at the end of 
Key Stage 2 was 40%.  This had been an improvement on the previous year, 
but lots of work was taking place to improve this performance and bridge the 
gap with their peers. 

 
iii)  The performance in relation to placement stability was rated as Red and it was 

reported that the number of older children being placed into care had impacted 
on this.  Consideration had been given to whether homeless 16/17 year olds 
were being provided with the right service and it had been concluded that in 
most cases, the young person had not been given the correct information to 
make a decision.  Consequently, when they had received this information, the 
young person had decided that they wanted to become looked after; as such, 
additional teenagers were being placed into care.  As there were currently 
insufficient placements to meet the demand for this age group, there had been 
an increase in the use of out of hours provision.  Due to the way this service 
operated, it often meant that the older young people coming into care had had 
a number of placements in a very short space of time. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

75. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 2 June 20020 at 
2.00pm. 
 
 

2.00 – 3.45pm CHAIRMAN 
03 March 2020 

 

10



 
 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 2 JUNE 2020 

 
DRAFT CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICE DEPARTMENTAL PLAN 

2020/23 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES 

 
 
 
Purpose of report  
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present for comment and consideration the 
draft Leicestershire Children and Family Service Departmental Plan 2020-23 
(attached as Appendix A to the report).  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 

2. The draft plan for 2020-23 has been developed to fulfil statutory duties and 
provide a basis for the Children and Family Service’s vision, planning, 
commissioning and delivery of services until 2023. The plan and associated 
actions provide a vehicle for the Children and Family Service to work together 
on shared priorities, maximise resources and expertise and to avoid 
duplication.  
   

3. The draft Children and Family Service Departmental Plan 2020 – 23 is aligned 
to the County Council’s Strategic Plan for 2018-22 ‘Working Together for the 
Benefit of Everyone’ and aims to set out how the Department will contribute to 
the delivery and achievement of the Council’s five strategic outcomes. 
 

4. It also aligns to Leicestershire’s Children and Families Partnership Plan and 
partner plans including Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Infant Feeding 
and Infant Mortality Strategies, Leicestershire and Rutland Sport Physical 
Activity and Sport Strategy, Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
Leicestershire Food Plan and Future in Mind.  

 
Background 

 
5. The Children and Family Service has developed a new draft Departmental Plan 

for 2020-23, setting out the vision and ambition for its services. The department 
has identified four ambitions and associated priority actions to contribute 

11 Agenda Item 8



 
 

towards improving outcomes for the children, young people and families of 
Leicestershire: 

 

 Help every child to get the best possible start in life: 

Priority 1: Identify those children who would benefit from support at the 

earliest opportunity  

Priority 2: Embed the offer around school readiness and children’s 

early language skills 

Priority 3: Promote clear and consistent messages relating to 1001 

critical days and the life chances of young children 

 

 Help children and their families build strength, resilience, confidence 

and capacity: 

Priority 1: Establish a revised Children and Family Wellbeing Service 

(CFWS) offer following the evaluation of early help services and the 

integration of family, youth, and children centre services.  

Priority 2: Develop effective multi-agency identification, assessment 

and support for families with children who require additional support or 

who have special education needs. 

Priority 3: Work with partner agencies to develop early help 

assessments and early help support at Tier 2 of the multi-agency 

Safeguarding Children Partnership threshold 

Priority 4:  Provide effective, co-ordinated support for children at key 

transition points, such as school readiness and the journey to 

adulthood. 

 

 Help children in Leicestershire to live in safe, stable environments and 

have secure attachments: 

Priority 1: Ensure all children and families receive the Right Service, at 

the Right Time, in the Right Place  

Priority 2: Ensure there are sufficient, good quality placements to meet 

children’s needs  

Priority 3: Children understand their care plan and have emotional 

permanence 

Priority 4: Support young people to prepare for adulthood 

 

 Help every child to have access to good quality education to ensure 

they achieve their maximum potential:  

Priority 1: Ensure that pupils with Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities (SEND) achieve the best possible outcomes delivered 

through appropriate education settings 

Priority 2: Ensure that every child has access to good school places in 

all Leicestershire areas 

Priority 3: Ensure best possible outcomes for all learners 

12



 
 

Priority 4:  Effective admissions arrangements promote diversity and 

choice and meet the needs of vulnerable groups 

 
6. It is the intention to launch the Children and Family Service Departmental Plan 

in late June 2020.  
 
 
Consultation 

 
7. The Children and Families Service actively seeks feedback from children, 

young people and families across Leicestershire as part of direct work 
undertaken with families, through specific engagement activity and through 
forums including the Children’s Youth Council for Leicestershire (CYCLe), 
Children in Care Council and the SEND Parent Carer Forum. Their views have 
been considered as part of the development of the Plan. The Plan has also 
been shaped by key themes emerging from the Make Your Mark 2019 National 
Youth Ballot in which over nine thousand young people from across 
Leicestershire voted on the issues most important to them. 
 
 

Resource Implications 
 
8. The Plan will provide the context within which Children and Family Service 

budgets are produced and will continue to ensure that the County Council 
makes the best possible use of its resources. 
 
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 

9. The draft Departmental Plan is due to be presented to the Cabinet at its 
meeting on 23 June 2020.  Any comments raised by the Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be taken into consideration. It is intended 
to then officially launch the Plan in late June 2020. 

 
Conclusion 
 
10. The Committee is asked to consider and comment on the draft Children and 

Family Service Departmental Plan. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   

 
11. There are no specific equality or human rights implications arising from this 

report. The Children and Family Service has an interest in ensuring that there 
are effective arrangements in place so that the services provided meet the 
identified needs of local children, young people and families.  An EHIRA 
assessment has been undertaken. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

13



 
 

12. Delivery of the plan will require the Department to maintain and develop 
effective working relationships with a range of partners, including but not 
limited to colleagues across all other County Council departments, District 
Councils, Health, Police, Leicester City and Rutland Councils and the voluntary 
and community sector. 

 
Background papers   
 
13. https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-

plan  
 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2018/9/17/Partners
hip_plan.pdf  

 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14. None 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 3052649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
Liz Perfect 
Head of Service - Commissioning & Planning 
Tel: 0116 3054814 
Email: liz.perfect@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mala Razak 
Children and Families Partnership Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 8055 
Email: mala.razak@leics.gov.uk   
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Children and Families Partnership Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

14

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2018/9/17/Partnership_plan.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2018/9/17/Partnership_plan.pdf
mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:liz.perfect@leics.gov.uk
mailto:mala.razak@leics.gov.uk


1 
 

 

Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
 

This Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will enable you to 
assess the new, proposed or significantly changed policy/ practice/ procedure/ 
function/ service** for equality and human rights implications.  
 
Undertaking this assessment will help you to identify whether or not this policy/ 
practice/ procedure/ function/ service** may have an adverse impact on a particular 
community or group of people. It will ultimately ensure that, as an Authority, we do 
not discriminate and we are able to promote equality, diversity and human rights.  
 
Please refer to the EHRIA guidance before completing this form. If you need any 
further information about undertaking and completing the assessment, contact your 
Departmental Equalities Group or equality@leics.gov.uk  
 
**Please note: The term ‘policy’ will be used throughout this assessment as 
shorthand for policy, practice, procedure, function or service. 
 

 

Key Details 
 

Name of policy being assessed: 
 
 
 

Children and Family Service Departmental Plan 
2020-23 

Department and section: 
 
 
 

Children and Family Service –Commissioning 
and Planning  

Name of lead officer/ job title and 
others completing this assessment: 

 
 

Mala Razak – Children and Families 
Partnership Manager 

Contact telephone numbers: 
 
 
 

0116 305 8055 
 

Name of officer/s responsible for 
implementing this policy: 

 
 

Jane Moore - Director Children and Family 
Services 

Date EHRIA assessment started: 
 
 
 

27/04/20 

Date EHRIA assessment completed: 
 

 

27/04/20 

 

15

http://corpedrmsapp:8087/Intranet%20File%20Plan/Human%20Resources/Equal%20Opportunities/Equalities%20and%20Diversity/ehria_toolkit.doc
https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Equality-groups.aspx
mailto:equality@leics.gov.uk


2 
 

Section 1: Defining the policy 
 

 
Section 1: Defining the policy  
You should begin this assessment by defining and outlining the scope of the policy. 
You should consider the impact or likely impact of the policy in relation to all areas of 
equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in Leicestershire County Council’s 
Equality Strategy. 
 

 

1 What is new or changed in the policy? What has changed and why? 
 

The draft plan for 2020-23 has been developed to fulfil statutory duties and 

provide a basis for the Children and Family Service’s vision, planning, 

commissioning and delivery of services until 2023 and builds on the previous 

plan for 2017-20. The key change is this new plan is the removal of improving 

children’s emotional health and wellbeing as a separate and discreet strategic 

priority as the view now taken is that this should be woven in throughout the 

plan. 

The plan for 2020-23 and associated actions reflect current needs and 

strategic priorities and plan provides a vehicle for the Children and Family 

Service to work together on shared priorities, maximise resources and 

expertise and to avoid duplication.   

The plan will provide the context within which Children and Family Service 

budgets are produced and will continue to ensure that the County Council 

makes best possible use of its resources.  

The department has identified four ambitions and associated priority actions to 

contribute towards improving outcomes for the children, young people and 

families of Leicestershire: 

 Help every child to get the best possible start in life: 
Priority 1: Identify those children who would benefit from support at the earliest 
opportunity  
Priority 2: Embed our offer around school readiness and children’s early 
language skills 
Priority 3: Promote clear and consistent messages relating to 1001 critical 
days and the life chances of young children 
 

 Help children and their families build strength, resilience, 
confidence and capacity: 

Priority 1: Establish a revised Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) 
offer following the evaluation of early help services and the integration of 
family, youth, and children centre services.  
Priority 2: Develop effective multi-agency identification, assessment and 
support for families with children who require additional support or who have 
special education needs. 
Priority 3: Work with partner agencies to develop early help assessments and 
early help support at Tier 2 of the multi-agency Safeguarding Children 
Partnership threshold 

16

https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Equality-Strategy.aspx


3 
 

Priority 4:  Provide effective, co-ordinated support for children at key transition 
points, such as school readiness and the journey to adulthood. 

 

 Help children in Leicestershire to live in safe, stable 
environments and have secure attachments: 

Priority 1: Ensure all children and families receive the Right Service, at the 
Right Time, in the Right Place  
Priority 2: Ensure we have sufficient, good quality placements to meet 
children’s needs  
Priority 3: Children understand their care plan and have emotional 
permanence 
Priority 4: Support young people to prepare for adulthood 
 

 Help every child to have access to good quality education to 
ensure they achieve their maximum potential:  

Priority 1: Ensure that pupils with SEND achieve the best possible outcomes 
delivered through appropriate education settings 
Priority 2: Ensure that every child has access to good school places in all 
Leicestershire areas 
Priority 3: Ensure best possible outcomes for all learners 
Priority 4:  Effective admissions arrangements promote diversity and choice 
and meet the needs of vulnerable groups 
 

2 Does this relate to any other policy within your department, the Council or with 

other partner organisations? If yes, please reference the relevant policy or EHRIA. 

If unknown, further investigation may be required. 

The Children and Family Service departmental plan 2020 – 23 is aligned to 

the County Council’s Strategic Plan for 2018-22 ‘Working Together for the 

Benefit of Everyone’ and aims to set out how the Department will contribute to 

the delivery and achievement of the Council’s five strategic outcomes. 

It also aligns to Leicestershire’s Children and Families Partnership plan and 

partnership plans including Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Infant 

Feeding and Infant Mortality Strategies, Leicestershire and Rutland Sport 

Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy, Leicestershire Food Plan and Future in Mind.  

3 Who are the people/ groups (target groups) affected and what is the intended 
change or outcome for them?  
 

The aim of the plan is to improve outcomes for all children and young people 
aged 0 – 19 (25) across Leicestershire.  
 
 

4 Will the policy meet the Equality Act 2010 requirements to have due regard to 
the need to meet any of the following aspects? (Please tick and explain how) 

 Yes No How? 

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, 

 
 

 The plan aims to aims to ensure all 
people are treated fairly and promotes 

17



4 
 

harassment and 
victimisation 

x 
 
 
x 
 
 
 
 
x 

consistent and joined-up approaches to 
the delivery of information, support and 
services for children, young people and 
families. Interventions to support 
individuals will help with equality of 
outcome by supporting those identified 
as most in need of help.  This will 
support the elimination of unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation whilst helping to advance 
equality of opportunity and good 
relations between different groups. 

Advance equality 
of opportunity 
between different 
groups 

Foster good 
relations between 
different groups 

 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights     
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Screening 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening 
The purpose of this section of the assessment is to help you decide if a full EHRIA is 
required.  
 
If you have already identified that a full EHRIA is needed for a policy/ practice/ 
procedure/ function/ service, either via service planning processes or other means, then 
please go straight to Section 3 on Page 7 of this document.  

 

Section 2  
A: Research and Consultation  

5. Have the target groups been consulted 
about the following?  
 

a) their current needs and aspirations 
and what is important to them; 
 

b) any potential impact of this change 
on them (positive and negative, 
intended and unintended); 

 
c) potential barriers they may face 

 

Yes No* 

Yes –  
 
The Children and Family Service actively 
seeks feedback from children, young 
people and families across Leicestershire 
as part of direct work undertaken with 
families, through specific engagement 
activity and through forums including the 
Children’s Youth Council for 
Leicestershire (CYCLe), Children in Care 
Council and the SEND Parent Carer 
Forum and their views have been 
considered as part of the development of 
the Plan. The Plan has also been shaped 
by key themes emerging from the Make 
Your Mark 2019 National Youth Ballot in 
which over nine thousand young people 
from across Leicestershire voted on the 
issues most important to them. 
 

 
 

6. If the target groups have not been consulted 
directly, have representatives been 
consulted or research explored (e.g. 
Equality Mapping)? 
 

7. Have other stakeholder groups/ secondary 
groups (e.g. carers of service users) been 
explored in terms of potential unintended 
impacts? 
 

18



5 
 

8. *If you answered 'no' to the questions above, please use the space below to 
outline either what consultation you are planning to undertake or why you do not 
consider it to be necessary. 
 

N/A 

 

Section 2 
B: Monitoring Impact 

9. Are there systems set up to: 
 

a) monitor impact (positive and 
negative, intended and unintended) 
for different groups; 
 

b) enable open feedback and 
suggestions from different 
communities 

Yes No 

Yes – Leads have been identified 
for each of the 4 ambitions and 
associated priority actions. They are 
tasked with working with internal 
and external partners and other 
stakeholders to deliver activity 
against each priority action.  
Detailed delivery plans are being 
developed for each ambition. 
Ambition leads will provide quarterly 
progress reports to the Children and 
Family Service DMT. Delivery plans 
will be reviewed annually.  
The Department also intends to 
seek annual feedback from children, 
young people and families through 
consultation activity.   

Note: If no to Question 9, you will need to ensure that monitoring systems are 
established to check for impact on the protected characteristics. 

Section 2 
C: Potential Impact 

10.  
Use the table below to specify if any individuals or community groups who identify 
with any of the ‘protected characteristics’ may potentially be affected by the 
policy and describe any positive and negative impacts, including any barriers.   
 

 Yes No Comments 
 
 

Age 
 
 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people aged 
0 – 19 (25).  Therefore, there is 
the potential for all children and 
young people to experience a 
positive impact as a result of the 
plan. 

Disability 
 

 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young, therefore, 
there is the potential for children 
and young people with a 

19

https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Protected-characteristics.aspx


6 
 

disability to experience a 
positive impact as a result of the 
plan as it will seek to develop 
effective multi-agency 
identification, assessment and 
support for families with children 
who require additional support 
or who have special education 
needs, to work with partner 
agencies to develop early help 
assessments and early help 
support at Tier 2 
of the multi-agency 
Safeguarding Children 
Partnership threshold and to 
provide effective, co-ordinated 
support for children at key 
transition points, such as school 
readiness and the journey to 
adulthood. 

Gender Reassignment 
 

  

x  The plan would not seek to 
discriminate against any child or 
young person and would seek to 
ensure that the needs of all 
children and young people are 
met 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

 

x  The plan would not seek to 
discriminate against any family 
and would seek to ensure that 
the needs of all families are met. 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 

 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people and 
expectant parents and includes 
a focus on the first 1001 days 
from conception to 2 years. 
Therefore, there is the potential 
for babies and expectant 
mothers to experience a positive 
impact as a result. 

Race 
 

 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people 
therefore there is the potential 
for children and young people 
from all racial backgrounds to 
experience a positive impact as 
a result of the plan. 

Religion or Belief 
 

 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people, 
therefore there is the potential 

20



7 
 

for children and young people 
off all religious backgrounds to 
experience a positive impact as 
a result of the plan. 

Sex 
 

 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people aged 
therefore there is the potential 
for children and young people 
from all genders to experience a 
positive impact as a result of the 
plan. 

Sexual Orientation 
 

   

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people 
therefore there is the potential 
for young people of any 
orientation to experience a 
positive impact as a result of the 
plan. 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, 
deprivation, health 

inequality, carers, asylum 
seeker and refugee 

communities, looked after 
children, deprived or 

disadvantaged 
communities 

 
x 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people 
therefore there is the potential 
for all children and young people 
to experience a positive impact 
as a result of the plan as it will 
seek to ensure all children and 
families receive the Right 
Service, at the Right Time, in 
the Right Place 

 Community Cohesion 
 

x  The aim of the plan is to 
improve outcomes for all 
children and young people 
therefore there is the potential 
for children, young and families 
people in all communities to 
experience a positive impact as 
a result of the plan. 

11.  
Are the human rights of individuals potentially affected by this proposal? Could 
there be an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
(Please tick) 
 
Explain why you consider that any particular article in the Human Rights Act may 
apply to the policy/ practice/ function or procedure and how the human rights of 
individuals are likely to be affected below: [NB: include positive and negative 
impacts as well as barriers in benefiting from the above proposal] 
 

 Yes No Comments 
 

 

21

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


8 
 

Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms  
 

Article 2: Right to life  x  Focus areas of the plan include 
promoting key messages around 
the First 1001 Critical Days which 
should assist in promoting healthy 
pregnancies and contributing to 
local and national targets around 
infant mortality   

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 x  

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 x  

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 X  

Article 6: Right to a fair trial   X  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 X  

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 X  

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion  

 X  

Article 10: Right to freedom 
of expression 

 X  

Article 11: Right to freedom 
of assembly and association  

 X  

Article 12: Right to marry  X  

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 X  

 
Part 2: The First Protocol  
 

Article 1: Protection of 
property/ peaceful 
enjoyment  

 x  

Article 2: Right to education  
  

x  Focus areas of the plan include:      
- promotion of key messages 
around School Readiness  
- providing effective, co-ordinated 
support for children at key 
transition points, such as school 
readiness  
- ensuring that pupils with SEND 
achieve the best possible 
outcomes delivered through 
appropriate education settings 
- ensuring that every child has 
access to good school places           

22



9 
 

- ensuring best possible outcomes 
for all learners  

Article 3: Right to free 
elections  

 x  

Section 2 
D: Decision 

13. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is there evidence or any other reason to 
suggest that: 
 

a) the policy could have a different 
affect or adverse impact on any 
section of the community; 
 

b) any section of the community may 
face barriers in benefiting from the 
proposal 

Yes 
 

No 
 

Unknown 

 
 
 
 

x  

 x  

13. 
 

Based on the answers to the questions above, what is the likely impact of the 
policy 
 

  
No Impact  

 
Positive Impact 

 
Neutral Impact 

 
Negative Impact or 
Impact Unknown 

 
Note: If the decision is ‘Negative Impact’ or ‘Impact Not Known’, an EHRIA Report 
is required. 

14. 
 
 

Is an EHRIA report required? 
 

 
       Yes 

 
            No 

 

 

 
Section 2: Completion of EHRIA Screening  
 
Upon completion of the screening section of this assessment, you should have identified 
whether an EHRIA Report is requried for further investigation of the impacts of this 
policy.  
 
Option 1: If you identified that an EHRIA Report is required, continue to Section 3 on 
Page 7 of this document.     
 
Option 2: If there are no equality, diversity or human rights impacts identified and an 
EHRIA report is not required, continue to Section 4 on Page 14 of this document.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

x    

x  

23



10 
 

 
 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Report 

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Report 
 
This part of the assessment will help you to think thoroughly about the impact of the 
policy and to critically examine whether it is likely to have a positive or negative impact 
on different groups within our diverse communities. It should also identify any barriers 
that may adversely affect under-represented communities or groups that may be 
disadvantaged by the way in which we carry out our business. 
 
Using the information gathered either within the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, this EHRIA Report should be used to consider the impact or likely impact 
of the policy in relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in 
Leicestershire County Council’s Equality Strategy. 
 

 

Section 3 
A: Research and Consultation  

When considering the target groups, it is important to think about whether new data 
needs to be collected or whether there is any existing research that can be utilised. 
 

15. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you now explored the following and what does this 
information/ data tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

a) current needs and aspirations and what is important to individuals and 
community groups (including human rights); 
 

b) likely impacts (positive and negative, intended and unintended) to 
individuals and community groups (including human rights); 

 
c) likely barriers that individuals and community groups may face (including 

human rights) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24



11 
 

 
 
 

16. Is any further research, data collection or evidence required to fill any gaps in your 
understanding of the potential or known affects of the policy on target groups?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

When considering who is affected by this proposed policy, it is important to think 
about consulting with and involving a range of service users, staff or other 
stakeholders who may be affected as part of the proposal. 
 

17. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you further consulted with those affected on the likely 
impact and what does this consultation tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18. Is any further consultation required to fill any gaps in your understanding of the 
potential or known effects of the policy on target groups?  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25



12 
 

 
 

 
 

Section 3  
B: Recognised Impact 

19. Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
individuals or community groups who identify with any ‘protected characteristics’ 
are likely to be affected by this policy. Describe any positive and negative 
impacts, including what barriers these individuals or groups may face. 
 

 Comments 
 

Age 
 
 

 

Disability 
 
 

 

Gender Reassignment 
 
 
 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 

 

Race 
 
 

 

Religion or Belief 
 
 

 

Sex 
 
 

 

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, 

health inequality, carers, 
asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, looked after 

children, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities 

 
 

 

 Community Cohesion  

26



13 
 

 
 

 
 

20.  
Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
particular Articles in the Human Rights Act are likely to apply to the policy. Are 
the human rights of any individuals or community groups affected by this 
proposal? Is there an impact on human rights for any of the protected 
characteristics? 
 

 Comments 
 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms 
  

Article 2: Right to life  
 

 

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  
 

  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion 

 

Article 10: Right to freedom of 
expression 

 

Article 11: Right to freedom of 
assembly and association  

 

Article 12: Right to marry 
 

 

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 

 
Part 2: The First Protocol 
 

Article 1: Protection of property/ 
peaceful enjoyment  
 

 

Article 2: Right to education 
   

 

27



14 
 

 

Article 3: Right to free elections  
 

 

28



15 
 

 

Section 3  
C: Mitigating and Assessing the Impact  

Taking into account the research, data, consultation and information you have reviewed 
and/ or carried out as part of this EHRIA, it is now essential to assess the impact of the 
policy. 
 

21. If you consider there to be actual or potential adverse impact or discrimination, 
please outline this below. State whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give 
reasons. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NB:  
 
i) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal, you are required 
to take action to remedy this immediately.  
 
ii) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or 
legitimate, you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect on 
those groups of people. 
 

22. Where there are potential barriers, negative impacts identified and/ or barriers or 
impacts are unknown, please outline how you propose to minimise all negative 
impact or discrimination. 
 

a) include any relevant research and consultation findings which highlight the 
best way in which to minimise negative impact or discrimination 
 

b) consider what barriers you can remove, whether reasonable adjustments 
may be necessary and how any unmet needs that you have identified can 
be addressed 
 

c) if you are not addressing any negative impacts (including human rights) or 
potential barriers identified for a particular group, please explain why 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



16 
 

Section 3 
D: Making a decision    

23. Summarise your findings and give an overview as to whether the policy will meet 
Leicestershire County Council’s responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity, 
community cohesion and human rights. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Section 3 
E: Monitoring, evaluation & review of the policy  

24. Are there processes in place to review the findings of this EHRIA and make 
appropriate changes? In particular, how will you monitor potential barriers and any 
positive/ negative impact? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25. How will the recommendations of this assessment be built into wider planning and 
review processes? 
e.g. policy reviews, annual plans and use of performance management systems 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  

30



17 
 

Section 3: 
F: Equality and human rights improvement plan  

 

 
Please list all the equality objectives, actions and targets that result from the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
(continue on separate sheets as necessary). These now need to be included in the relevant service plan for mainstreaming and 
performance management purposes. 
 

 
Equality Objective 

 
Action 

 
Target 

 
Officer Responsible 

 
By when 

 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

31



18 
 

 

Section 4: Sign off and scrutiny  
 
 

Upon completion, the Lead Officer completing this assessment is required to sign the 
document in the section below. 
 
It is required that this Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) is 
scrutinised by your Departmental Equalities Group and signed off by the Chair of the 
Group. 
 
Once scrutiny and sign off has taken place, a depersonalised version of this EHRIA 
should be published on Leicestershire County Council’s website. Please send a copy of 
this form to the Digital Services Team via web@leics.gov.uk for publishing. 

 

Section 4 
A: Sign Off and Scrutiny 

 
Confirm, as appropriate, which elements of the EHRIA have been completed and are 
required for sign off and scrutiny. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Screening 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Report 
 

 
1st Authorised Signature (EHRIA Lead Officer): MALA RAZAK…………………………. 
  
 

 
2nd Authorised Signature (DEG Chair): 

… ……………………………………………………. 
 
Date: …6th MAY 2020………………………… 
 
 

 
 
 

x 

 

32

mailto:web@leics.gov.uk


Published April 2020

 
Children and Family  
Services Departmental Plan

2020 - 2023

33



2  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Contents:
Foreword .......................................................................................3

Introduction  ..................................................................................4

Vision, mission and values  .............................................................5

Our children  ..................................................................................6

Our ambitions for 2020-23  ............................................................7

Cross-cutting themes and enablers  ............................................... 14

Planning and performance framework  ........................................... 15

Appendix 1: Strategy and Planning bookcase   ................................. 16

Appendix 2: : Annual action plan  ................................................... 17

34



3  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

 

As a department we are passionate about improving the lives of all our children and 
young people. This plan will help us to drive forward the changes that will make a real 
difference to their futures. 

The plan sets out our vision and our priorities for children, young people and families, 
how we plan to achieve these, who is responsible, and what success will look like. 

Children and young people are at the heart of this Plan which sets out four clear 
ambitions for 2020-2023:

• Help every child to get the best possible start in life;

• Help children and their families build strength, resilience, confidence and capacity

• Help children in Leicestershire to live in safe, stable environments and have secure attachments

• Help every child to have access to good quality education to ensure they achieve their maximum potential

The plan is intended to be a “live” document that provides an overarching framework to stimulate action and 
to help ensure that whatever we do genuinely makes a difference to the lives of children, young people and 
families. It also describes how, as a department, we will deliver the actions within the plan, including some 
innovative new ways of working.

We recognise that these ambitions cannot be delivered alone, and we are committed to working in partnership 
to achieve the best outcomes for the children and young people of Leicestershire. By working together on 
shared ambitions, we believe that we can make the difference that is needed.”

 Jane Moore     Cllr Ivan Ould OBE

Cllr Ivan Ould OBE,  
Lead Member for Children,  

Families and Safer Communities

Jane Moore,  
Director, Children and Family Services 

Foreword

35



4  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Introduction
This plan is for all the children and young people living in Leicestershire and their families and sets out high-
level priorities for Leicestershire County Council’s Children and Family Services Department for the next three 
years. The plan builds on the work undertaken under the previous departmental plan and has been informed 
by what children, young people and families have told us about their needs and experiences. 

The plan is a “live” document allowing us to recognise and respond to change. Progress against the plan will 
be monitored closely and a formal review will be undertaken annually to ensure it remains relevant, dynamic 
and aligned with local and national priorities. This plan is driven by our vision and mission and underpinned by 
our shared values.

36



5  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Investing 
in our staff

Focus on
quality

Focus 
on outcomes 
and impact 

- making a difference to 
children and families

Putting the 
child’s needs &  
family at the 

centre of what 
we do

Clear 
expectations 
and Practice 
Standards

Listening 
to children 

their families 
and staff

(Voice)

Working 
alongside and 

working with an 
enabling culture

(Signs of Safety)

Strong 
leadership, 

ownership and 
accountability

Effective 
collaborative 
partnership

FLEXIBILITY
LCC VALUES

PO
SI

TI
VI

TY

OPENNESS & TRANSPARENCY

TR
UST

 &
 R

ES
PE

CT

CFS
Values

OUR VISION 
Leicestershire is the best place for all children, young people and their families 

This means that we will describe the outcomes we want to achieve for children, young people and their 
families and identify measures that can tell us how well we are achieving them in comparison with other 

English local authorities. We will aim to be the best performing local authority in the country against 
these measures, and where we are not yet there we will set stretching targets for annual improvement. 

OUR MISSION 
Children and young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families where they can achieve their 

potential and have their health, wellbeing and life chances improved within thriving communities.

OUR VALUES
Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC) organisational values set out the attributes and approach to work 
that can be expected from all council employees. Children and Family Services have devised a core 
set of values based on the work within the department, which demonstrate how we will meet the LCC 
Organisational values.

37



6  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Children in Leicestershire

136,946
0-17 population

Children in Care

584 Children in Need

Pupils Missing 
Education 2866
1814

Children and young people 
who have Offended

200

Child Sexual 
Exploitation referrals

314

Child Protection
388Early Help

4384

Education, Health 
and Care Plans

Children with 
medical needs

164

4222Children with  
a disability

4871

Our Children 2018/19

Impact and 
outcomes 

Reoffending

Care Leavers in EET 

1.11

57%

NEET

2 year olds taking up 
FEEE 

3 and 4 year olds 
taking up their FEEE 

Schools rated 
good or outstanding 

Placement Stability 

First time entrants to the 
Criminal Justice System 

In contact with 
our care leavers 

2.2%

63%

98%

86%

8%

100

57% 

Repeat Child 
Protection plans 

Percentage of pupils getting into 
their first choice of school 
Primary Secondary97.1% 89.5%

15.2%

Impact and Outcomes

Foster Carer recruitment – 18/19 
approved by end of q2 
(mainstream and specialist)

enquiries 34220

Care Leavers suitable 
accommodation 90%

38



7  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Departmental ambitions for 2020-2023

Ambition 1 - Help every child to get the best possible start in life 
This is about helping families with babies and very young children to promote their health and development. 

There is now a wealth of research and policy information which points to a child’s early years playing a pivotal 
role in later life outcomes. We want all children to have all the opportunities they need to develop their health, 
skills and knowledge so that they are ready for school and have the best possible start in life. A great start will 
shape their lifelong health and well-being.

What is important to children, young people and families?

Feedback from parents on services they received 

The actions we will take:

Priority 1:  Identify those children who would benefit from support at the earliest opportunity 

Priority 2:  Embed our offer around school readiness and children’s early language skills

Priority 3: Promote clear and consistent messages relating to 1001 critical days and the life chances  
of young children

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference:
We will focus on tracking data on narrowing the attainment the gap for vulnerable groups and increasing the 
proportion of reception children reaching a “good level of development”

• % of eligible 2 year olds taking up their FEEE

• % of eligible 3 and 4 year olds taking up their FEEE

• % of eligible 2, 3 and 4-year olds taking up their FEEE in a high-quality provision

• % of reception pupils reaching a ‘Good level of development’

• % of reception pupils with FSM status achieving ‘Good level of development’

• % of Reception pupils with SEN statement/EHCP achieving ‘Good Level of Development’

• % of children working at expected levels at the end of the foundation stage

• % of children with improved communication, language and literacy skills

• % of children excluded from settings and schools

“… whilst you were 
helping our son you 
were a massive help 
and support to me.”

“I feel that I have been 
supported to support my 
child’s communication … 
been given the tools to 
support my child to play”

“Not just a help 
to the child but a 
support to parents”

39



8  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Ambition 2 - Help children and their families build strength, resilience, 
confidence and capacity 
This is about supporting children, young people and 
their families to tackle problems and helping them to 
feel more confident and capable of dealing with future 
problems.

Many families have emerging or complex needs 
which often require support to enable their children to 
achieve good outcomes in life. 

Early identification of problems, joined-up working 
practices between agencies, and working together 
with families to meet their specific needs, is at the 
heart of providing an effective response.

What is important to children,  
young people and families?

“listen to us and take our problems seriously”

“ (the worker) helped me to talk about my 
worries and sorted out me going back to 
school, I wouldn’t be in school if it wasn’t 
for her.  I feel like I have a future now.”

Feedback from young people

“I feel me and the children are a 
team now and work with each other 
to make our home life happy.”

“The group really helped 
me understand why my 
children do certain things 
and there is a reason 
behind it”

Feedback from parents following parenting groups

40



9  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

The actions we will take

Priority 1:  Establish a revised Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) offer following the evaluation 
of early help services and the integration of family, youth, and children centre services. 

Priority 2:  Develop effective multi-agency identification, assessment and support for families with children 
who require additional support or who have special education needs.

Priority 3:  Work with partner agencies to develop early help assessments and early help support at Tier 2 
of the multi-agency Safeguarding Children Partnership threshold.

Priority 4:  Provide effective, co-ordinated support for children at key transition points, such as school 
readiness and the journey to adulthood.

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference:
• Reduction of cases stepped down to early help services that result in a step back up to statutory services

• Increase in the % of families receiving 1 to 1 intervention from the CFWS who show significant and 
sustained improvement

• Continued monitoring of the % of parents involved with CFS who move into employment

• Decrease in children in mainstream schools with EHC Plans, with more children supported effectively at 
SEN Support

• Reduction in children missing education or educated at home

41



10  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Ambition 3 - Help children in Leicestershire to live in safe, stable 
environments and have secure attachments 
This is about supporting children and young people to be safe and happy at home, and where this cannot 
happen, to have good placements and carers. 

We want all children and young people to grow up in stable, healthy, happy, safe and supportive family 
environments. 

Whilst every effort will be made to promote children and young people remaining or returning to parental or 
family care, this will not be a safe option for some children. In such circumstances, Leicestershire will seek to 
find other options for children.

We believe that our children deserve forever homes and that their parents and carers need access to the best 
support, training and resources to provide our children and young people with the best possible care.

What is important to children, young people and families?

From a foster child 

“The best present I ever had 
was Julie and Phil and their 
family because my real family 
couldn’t look after me and my 
brother properly, they took us 
in and cared for us and I love 
them so, so much”.

From an adult adoptee: 

“Thank you for your research and (birth records) 
support. From being scared of where I may have 
come from, to now being proud of who I am…”

Feedback from an Adopter  
“Being able to talk to someone who really gets it is vital 
for adoptive parents, especially in the early stages of 
placement when challenges are coming thick and fast”

42



11  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

The actions we will take

Priority 1: Ensure all children and families receive the Right Service, at the Right Time, in the Right Place 

Priority 2: Ensure we have sufficient, good quality placements to meet children’s needs 

 What foster children tell us they want from carers: 

• “don’t give up on me. I want dedication”

• “be able to love, care and show affection”

• “be patient and mindful of our feelings”

• “treat fosters kids like your own kids”

Priority 3:  Children understand their care plan and have emotional permanence

Priority 4:  Support young people to prepare for adulthood

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference 
• % children with 3 or more placements during a year

• % children in same placement for 2+ years or placed for adoption

• % of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (end of quarter) 

• The average emotional health strengths/difficulties score for children in care

• % child protection cases which were reviewed within timescales

• % of children becoming subject to a child protection plan for second or subsequent time

• % re-referrals to Children’s Social Care within 12 months

• % continuous assessments completed within 45 days

• % of Child Protection plans lasting 2 years or more open at the end of the quarter 

• % of Care Leavers in education, employment and training (EET) (end of quarter)

• The number of young people going missing reduces

• Take up of young people undertaking a return home interview (all young people and children in care)

• All children have a plan for permanence considered & identified at second review  

43



12  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Ambition 4 - Help every child to have access to good quality 
education to ensure they achieve their maximum potential 
This is about supporting children and young people to get the best education and to have opportunities that 
help them reach their goals.

All pupils irrespective of their level of ability or needs should have access to the best possible teaching and 
learning. This should be delivered through successful and high performing schools or other educational 
establishments, offering the best teaching practice, facilities and learning environments to enable all pupils to 
thrive and achieve their best potential.

What’s important to children, young people and families?

Feedback from a young person 

“Before I came here I was really 
depressed and distant. I’m really happy I 
came here. I feel like I can control my life. 
Art therapy gave me someone to talk to 
without fear of judgement. Everyone here 
just wants you to be happy and do what 
you want to do in life. You can listen and 
trust what they say.”

Feedback from a young person 

“(the support) helped me a lot. It helped build 
my confidence and happiness. My anxiety is 
now a lot better. Although there was lots of 
challenges, I enjoyed myself and had a lot of 
fun. I made friends. I am very thankful that 
they pushed me to go to this college”

Feedback from a school councils:

“At our school we enjoy celebrating achievements in a brilliant 
atmosphere, have lots of opportunities to try new things, 
teachers who listen and help us shine and are accepting of 
people and celebrate that we are all unique”

44



13  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

The actions we will take

Priority 1:  Ensure that pupils with SEND achieve the best possible outcomes delivered through  
appropriate education settings

Priority 2: Ensure that every child has access to good school places in all Leicestershire areas

Priority 3: Ensure best possible outcomes for all learners

Priority 4:  Effective admissions arrangements promote diversity and choice and meet the needs  
of vulnerable groups

The measures that will tell us if we are making a difference
We will track data across all key stages that demonstrate progress, outcomes and diminishing the difference for 
vulnerable groups, with particular attention to:

• % pupils achieving the expected standard in Reading, Writing and Mathematics at Key Stage 2

• Diminishing the difference at Key Stages 2 and 4 for children in care, children in need, those with a 
statement/Education, Health & Care Plan and those with SEN support

• % of pupils in Good or Outstanding schools

• Number of places developed for mainstream and special schools/resource bases

• Average cost per place for various types of school in the capital programme

• % of first preferences for First Time Admissions (FTAs)

• % of first preferences for secondary transfer

• % of 16-17 year olds who are not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)

• Number of children missing education and average time outside of school

• Number of medical needs cases, average length of time supported and cost

• Number of elective home educated pupils and frequency of visits 

• % of eligible two and three year olds taking up FEEE

• % of looked after children admitted on school roll within 20 school days from date of application

• Number of permanent exclusions

• % of children receiving at least one day of fixed term exclusion

45



14  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Cross-cutting themes and enablers 
We have identified the following cross-cutting themes and enablers as crucial to helping us achieve our 
ambitions for children and young people:

 Voice: putting children and young people at the heart of all our activities by involving them 
and their families in the decision-making, planning, commissioning, design, development, 
delivery and evaluation of services that affect their daily lives

 Partnership working: working together, aligning plans and resources, integrated 
commissioning and information/data sharing to improve outcomes 

 Developing and retaining an excellent workforce: equipping our workforce with the skills, 
knowledge and behaviours needed to improve outcomes for children, young people and 
their families

 Culture and practice: developing relationships in both leadership and practice that are 
based on mutual respect, support and collaboration

 Behaviours: identifying the behaviours expected from our workforce that will underpin our 
work with children, young people and their families

 Commissioning: processes that ensure innovation, best value and quality, market 
engagement and include the voice of children and families

 Data and intelligence: that informs planning and drives performance monitoring

46



15  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Planning and Performance Framework 
Our Departmental Plan sits within a Planning and Performance Framework that will help us to deliver our 
ambitions for children and families in Leicestershire. 

Level Planning Performance management

Partnerships  
and Corporate

• Children & Families Partnership Plan

• LCC Strategic Plan

• Quarterly review by Children & Families 
Partnership Board

• Corporate Management Team

Departmental
• CFS Departmental Plan

• Continuous Improvement Plan

• Quarterly review by CFS DMT and CFS 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Services • Service Delivery Plans
• Quarterly review by Heads of Service 

• Bi-Annual review by Assistant Directors 

Staff Members • Annual Performance Reviews
• Bi-annual review and monthly 

supervision by Line Managers

47



16  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Appendix 1:

Strategy and Planning Bookcase

County Council Strategic Plan Children & Families Partnership Plan

Transformation 
Programme

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

Communities 
Strategy

Equality Strategy
Environment 

Strategy

Children and Family Services Departmental Plan

Continuous Improvement Plan

Specialist Strategies

Service Delivery Plans

 

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Pa

re
nt

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

Vo
ic

e 
St

ra
te

gy

Ca
re

 P
la

ce
m

en
ts

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Re
cr

ui
tm

en
t a

nd
 R

et
en

tio
n 

St
ra

te
gy

G
ro

w
in

g 
Q

ua
lit

y 
St

ra
te

gy

SE
N

D
 a

nd
 In

cl
us

io
n 

St
ra

te
gy

Ea
rly

 H
el

p 
St

ra
te

gy

Pe
rm

an
en

ce
 a

nd
 A

do
pt

io
n 

St
ra

te
gy

Co
m

m
is

si
on

in
g 

St
ra

te
gy

W
or

kf
or

ce
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

tr
at

eg
y

W
ho

le
 L

ife
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 S
tr

at
eg

y

Co
m

m
un

ity
 S

af
et

y 
St

ra
te

gy

Yo
ut

h 
Ju

st
ic

e 
Pl

an

48



17  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Appendix 2: 

CFS Departmental Plan Action Plan 2020 -21

Ambition 1 - Help every child to get the best possible start in life

Priority Action Lead 

Priority 1:  
Identify those children 
who would benefit 
from support at the 
earliest opportunity

1.1a  Develop a neo natal pathway to help identify children who may 
require support to include:

 - identification of families who will require additional support at 
home on leaving the neo natal ward

 - understanding of the support and resources required in order to 
inform future commissioning e.g. specialist nursery places

Head of Service - 
Education Quality  
and Effectiveness

1.1b Offer Portage support to those children identified by Health and the 
Children and Family Wellbeing Service

1.1c Utilise 2 year health review data to identify children who may 
require support in order to offer early interventions

Priority 2:  
Embed our offer 
around school 
readiness and 
children’s early 
language skills

1.2a Strengthen collaboration with partners to improve support for early 
language and communication skills

Head of Service - 
Education Quality  
and Effectiveness1.2b Develop universal and targeted training for the early years sector on 

“Narrowing the Language Gap”

1.2c Carry out a maturity matrix with partners and develop an action 
plan to address identified areas for development

1.2d Pilot ‘two to school’ project in targeted areas of the county

Priority 3:  
Promote clear and 
consistent messages 
relating to 1001 
critical days and the 
life chances of young 
children

1.3a Develop resources for parents, including an online information 
offer, that supports their understanding of their child’s 
developmental needs from conception to 2 years

Head of Service – 
Early Help and  
Safer Communities

1.3b Develop a practitioner’s toolkit to help them support parent’s 
understanding of the importance of the first 1001 critical days and 
the key role they play in their child’s learning and development

1.3c Develop training for practitioners (e-learning and face to face 
training packages) which can then be rolled out to partners to 
deliver across their workforce

  

49



18  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Ambition 2 - Help children and their families build strength, resilience, 
confidence and capacity

Priority Action Lead 

Priority 1: 
Establish a revised 
Children and Family 
Wellbeing Service 
(CFWS) offer following 
the evaluation of early 
help services and the 
integration of family, 
youth and children 
centre services

2.1a  Develop a plan that identifies all Children and Family Wellbeing 
Service programmes and interventions offered to families  

Head of Service – 
Early Help and Safer 
Communities2.1b Develop a communications plan, including digital and written 

strands, to promote the Children and Family Wellbeing Service 
offer on an on-going basis to families, other agencies and internal 
Council staff  

2.1c Undertake scoping work with partner agencies (notably health 
providers, district councils, and the voluntary sector) to build a 
comprehensive library of early help services available within each 
locality across Leicestershire

Priority 2:  
Develop effective 
multi-agency 
identification, 
assessment and 
support for families 
with children who 
require additional 
support or who have 
special education 
needs.

2.2a Develop a single point of access for co-ordinating information 
gathered from social care workers, Children and Family Wellbeing 
Service support workers and other professionals in relation to Education, 
Health and Care Plans.

Head of Service – 
Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities

2.2b Develop a SEN training package and complementary handbook 
for schools and relevant support workers within the department in 
relation to LCC special educational services

2.2c Review the specialist pathways between CFS SEN service and 
Health to assist children to get the right support at the right time, 
including developing a neurological pathway between CFS and 
Health

Head of Service – 
Early Help and Safer 
Communities

Priority 3:  
Work with partner 
agencies to 
develop early help 
assessments and 
early help support at 
Tier 2 of the multi-
agency Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 
threshold

2.3a Develop the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership threshold protocol 
to include reference and guidance on early help provision across 
LLR linked to families with more complex problems (Tier 2 in the 
proposed new protocol)

Head of Service – 
Early Help and Safer 
Communities

2.3b Develop the Early Help Partnership, including agreeing a governance 
structure through the Children and Families Partnership Board and 
extending membership to reflect all partner agencies delivering early 
help provision  

2.3c Explore introducing a standard multi agency assessment for families 
with complex problems requiring early intervention and support (Tier 
2) below the targeted service and statutory service thresholds at 
Tiers 3 and 4. This will most notably involve work with schools, other 
education settings, health providers, police and district councils

Priority 4: 
Provide effective, 
co-ordinated support 
for children at key 
transition points, such 
as school readiness 
and the journey to 
adulthood

2.4a Embed protocols within the Transition to Adulthood handbook 
developed between CFS SEN Service and Adult Social Care 

Head of Service – 
Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities2.4b Develop advice and guidance for effective transitions between 

schools and education settings

2.4c Develop the offer for transition from children and adult services 
within the Children and Family Wellbeing Service

Head of Service – 
Early Help and Safer 
Communities

50



19  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Ambition 3 - Help children in Leicestershire to live in safe, stable 
environments and have secure attachments 

Priority Action Lead 

Priority 1: 
Ensure all children 
and families receive 
the Right Service, at 
the Right Time, in the 
Right Place

3.1a Embed relationship-based practice that promotes purposeful, 
responsive and inclusive service delivery

Assistant Director, 
Targeted Early Help and 
Children’s Social Care

3.1b Embed the 16+ provision in the Children in Care service, re-focus the 
work of the Family Intervention Workers and strengthen management 
oversight of revocation of care orders to support children to remain 
within their families and, where possible, their communities

Head of Service – 
Children in Care & 
Head of Service – 
Field Social Work

3.1c Improve the quality of assessments and plans to ensure they are 
sufficiently focused on need, strength-based actions that will keep 
children safe and ensure the best outcomes for children

3.1d Drive timely and appropriate responses and permanence decisions 
that improve outcomes through effective management supervision

3.1e  Strengthen and develop our multi-agency response to Child 
Criminal Exploitation (CCE) by building on learning from the work 
on CSE undertaken with partner agencies through the Vulnerability 
Hub and youth and youth justice service

Head of Service -  
Field Social Work &  
Head of Service – 
Early Help and Youth 
Justice3.1f Continue to develop and build on our partnership approach and 

response to reports of Domestic Abuse (DA) through our DA 
framework to ensure children and families receive appropriate support

Priority 2:  
Ensure we have 
sufficient, good 
quality placements to 
meet children’s needs

3.2a Introduce new placement referral forms that include the voice 
of the child to assist in finding the right placement to meet their 
educational, health and emotional needs

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

3.2b Embed regular placement provider events to help providers 
understand Leicestershire’s children and needs

Head of Service – 
Commissioning and 
Planning

3.2c Establish residential provision and undertake fostering and 
adoption recruitment that will focus on:
-Sibling groups
-Older children
-Working with trauma
-Preparing children for independence
-Supporting children who have a behavioural disorder

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

3.2d Ensure the Council has a solid market presence through:

- Leading on need-based assessment to influence private providers 
including IFA, 16+ supported accommodation and residential care

- Identifying innovative partnership solutions to address need 
across the entirety of the child’s journey.

Head of Service – 
Commissioning and 
Planning

3.2e Provide timely assessments for children living in Private Fostering 
Arrangements through a dedicated social worker and support, 
where needed, to help them to be healthy, achieve and be safe

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

3.2f Offer support, training and peer support to foster carers, enabling 
them to feel they can influence support services, including those 
available to children 

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

51



20  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Priority Action Lead 

Priority 3:  
Children understand 
their care plan and 
have emotional 
permanence

3.3a Support children to understand their journey and to have a voice 
in what happens to them through relationship-based practice that 
includes consistent use of purposeful direct work and consideration 
of the child’s voice

Assistant Director, 
Targeted Early Help 
and Children’s Social 
Care

3.3b Ensure children are living within their permanent homes without 
unnecessary delay through timely IRO decisions and use of 
Permanence Panel

Head of Service 
– Children in Care 
& Head of Service 
– Safeguarding 
Assurance

3.3c Children know that they have permanence and understand what 
this means because they are consulted before Permanence Panel 
and they celebrate permanence when it is agreed; and children 
have an explanation of their care journey like Words &Pictures and/
or their life story work

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

3.3d Provide access to a range of experiences that build confidence and 
provide children with a positive identity as a looked after child.

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

Priority 4: 
Support young 
people to prepare for 
adulthood

3.4a Embed the completion of the ASDAN to ensure children are 
supported by their carers and social workers to learn core skills and 
to have experiences that prepare them for adulthood

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

3.4b Children and young people understand their education and career 
choices and are supported to test these choices by their Personal 
Advisors and, if needed, by accessing specific advice and guidance

3.4c Ensure young people who are vulnerable due to their health 
and developmental needs have clear pathways to services and 
understand their Leaving Care Health Summary.

3.4d Engage YOS, Transitions, Health provision, DWP, Housing and 
other parties early through the High-Risk Panels to develop shared 
care and pathway plans, particularly for the most vulnerable 
children

Head of Service – 
Children in Care & 
Head of Service – 
Early Help and Safer 
Communities

3.4e Promote the Offer to Children in Care and Care Leavers in 
Leicestershire to ensure young people, families and other agencies 
understand this offer

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

3.4f Establish regional opportunities for development of joint protocols 
to ensure care leavers across the region are afforded the same 
opportunities wherever they feel they have made appropriate, safe 
and stable attachments

Head of Service – 
Children in Care

  

52



21  Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020 - 2023

Ambition 4 - Help every child to have access to good quality 
education to ensure they achieve their maximum potential

Priority Action Lead 

Priority 1:  
Ensure that pupils 
with SEND achieve 
the best possible 
outcomes delivered 
through appropriate 
education settings

4.1a Deliver the additional places set out in the HNB development 
Programme to meet the needs of children with SEN for September 
2020

Head of Service – 
Education Sufficiency

4.1b Review and improve our commissioning arrangements to enable 
better management of EHCPs and support for families

Head of Service – 
Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities

4.1c Promote and develop more inclusive, attachment and trauma-
aware practice within schools and educational settings

Head of Service - 
Education Quality and 
Effectiveness

4.1d Manage the relocation and restructure of Oakfield Short Stay 
School and related outreach functions

Head of Service - 
Education Quality and 
Effectiveness

Priority 2:  
Ensure that every 
child has access to 
good school places 
in all Leicestershire 
areas

4.2a Deliver the school expansion schemes within the 2020/21 capital 
programme 

Head of Service – 
Education Sufficiency

4.2b Commence the free school presumption process to open new 
primary schools for September 2021

4.2c Review the school place planning strategy ‘In the Right Place’

Priority 3:  
Ensure best possible 
outcomes for all 
learners

4.3a Undertake targeted development work through LEEP for reading, 
writing and mathematics

Head of Service - 
Education Quality and 
Effectiveness4.3b Evidence based practice for literacy and numeracy

4.3c Promote understanding of SEMH and in-school provision that 
enables pupils with SEMH to access learning

4.3d Recruitment and retention of a suitably skilled workforce

4.3e Continue to strengthen relationship with MATs and TSAs

Priority 4:   
Effective admissions 
arrangements 
promote diversity and 
choice and meet the 
needs of vulnerable 
groups

4.4a Implement a revised school admissions policy Head of Service – 
Education Sufficiency4.4b Restructure the admissions service to provide a fit for future model

53



T1
09

6

54



 

 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 2 JUNE 2020 

 
LEICESTERSHIRE CHILDREN AND FAMILIES PARTNERSHIP PLAN 

2018/21: PROGRESS UPDATE 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES 

 
 
Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present a progress update on the Children and 

Families Partnership Plan 2018-21. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 
2. In November 2016 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the terms of 

reference for the Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership.  This was 
established as a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board, replacing the 
Supporting Leicestershire Families Executive with an expanded remit to include 
oversight of delivery of all the priorities for children and families as set out in the 
draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

 
Background 
 
3. The Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership is made up of the key 

organisations that work with children, young people and their families across 
Leicestershire, including Leicestershire County Council, Leicestershire Police, 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, NHS health partners, District and 
Borough Councils, Schools, Probation Service, Department of Work and 
Pensions and the voluntary sector. 

 
4. Its purpose is to champion effective partnership working, so that there are 

shared priorities and partners deliver outcomes that make a real difference to 
the lives of children and young people.  

 
5. The Children and Families Partnership Plan is a strategic document that sets 

out the shared vision for children, young people and their families and the 
priorities that need to be achieved. The Plan is not a detailed description of the 
individual work of each partner, but rather a summary of key areas of work that 

55 Agenda Item 9



 

are best delivered together in order to have the biggest impact on the lives of 
children and young people. 

 
6. The Partnership has adopted the five supporting outcomes of the Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy relating to children and young people as the priority 
areas for the Plan. The five priorities are: 

 
 

i. Ensure the best start in life– by developing an integrated early years pathway 
which ensures needs are assessed to enable appropriate interventions are 
offered and the development of a communication strategy to promote the 1001 
critical days; 
 

ii. Keep children safe and free from harm – by developing and embedding an 
integrated model of services to prevent harm to children and young people and 
make children safe by raising awareness of universal safety messages; 

 
iii. Support children and families to be resilient - by developing an integrated 

approach to family resilience and self-sufficiency, provide joined up information 
and guidance to enable families to be self-sufficient and navigate services and 
support families to progress towards work; 

 
iv. Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support – 

by providing integrated, outcome-based, high quality, cost-effective provision 
and developing a post-16 multi-agency delivery model; 

 
v. Enable children to have good physical and mental health - by developing a 

whole system approach based on ‘Making obesity everyone’s business’ and 
developing a partnership approach to emotional and mental wellbeing; 

 
 

7.  Progress to date 
 
Priority leads are working with partners and other key stakeholders to deliver the 
action plans agreed against each outcome. Key progress from November 2019 
includes:- 
 
Priority 1 - Ensure the best start in life 
 
- Launch of a “Graduated Approach” in September 2019 to assist children at risk 

of delay being identified early and referred to appropriate services for support. 
The approach includes an Advice Line, support visits from Area Special 
Educational Needs Co-ordinators (SENCOs), half-termly drop-ins for providers 
to talk through concerns with a range of professionals and an online toolkit for 
schools and pre-schools; 

 
- Launch of a leaflet targeted at parents to promote awareness and 

understanding of 1001 Critical Days key messages. The leaflet is available at all 
primary schools and will be distributed to expectant and new parents through 
key health contacts; (www.leicestershire.gov.uk/first-1001-days) 

56

http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/first-1001-days


 

 
- Launch of a School Readiness online toolkit for early years professionals 

(www.leicestershire.gov.uk/school-readiness)    
 
Priority 2 - Keep children safe and free from harm 
 

- The appointment of a Strategic Lead for Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR), who will work with operational 
leads across LLR to develop a joint strategy and delivery plan in response to 
CCE; 
 

- The launch of LLR CCE Standards; 
  

- The implementation of a daily partnership risk assessment process at the CCE 
hub; 
 

- The launch of a communication campaign to raise awareness of CCE. 
 
Priority 3 - Support children and families to be resilient 
 

- Work with secondary schools and the Local Enterprise Partnership to promote 
take up of the Enterprise Adviser Programme to support the delivery of 
effective careers guidance. The majority of secondary schools and colleges 
are now working with an Adviser. 

 
Priority 4 - Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and 
support 
 

- Establishment of a Joint Solutions Panel to review joint funding arrangements; 
  

- Remodelling of the Leicestershire County Council Inclusion Service and launch 
of a new Inclusion Pathway in September 2019. The Pathway includes early 
years, primary and secondary advice surgeries (Inclusion Forums) across the 
county; 
  

- Approval of a multi-agency Housing Protocol for 16 and 17 year olds at risk of 
homelessness in November 2019; 
 

- Recruitment of nine care leaver apprentices to the County Council as part of 
the offer to care leavers 

 
Priority 5 - Enable children to have good physical and mental health 
 

- Development of a face to face and online Make Every Contact Count PLUS 
training module on maternal obesity for practitioners operating across different 
agencies; 
 

- Development of resources for practitioners to use with service users to discuss 
healthy weight before, during and post pregnancy; 
 

57



 

- Successful completion of the first year of the active travel to and from school 
‘Choose How You Move’ programme; 
  

- Roll-out of the Sport England funded Active Families project to all seven 
districts following a successful pilot phase in two districts; 
 

- Multi-agency events to raise awareness of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) and to agree how a trauma informed approach could be progressed 
across Leicestershire; 
  

- Securing of funding from the Violence Reduction Network to deliver workforce 
development activity in relation to ACEs 

 
Youth Campaign Group 
 

- A Youth Campaign Group (YCG) was developed in November 2018 to involve 
young people in developing and delivering the Leicestershire Children and 
Families Partnership Plan. The focus is undertaking campaign activity aligned 
to key issues identified by young people in the county through the national 
Make Your Mark youth ballot.  

 
- Knife crime was identified as the number one issue for 2018/19 and the YCG 

has been working with partners including Mike Kapur, the Lord Lieutenant of 
Leicestershire, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Public 
Health to discuss knife crime and ideas for campaign activity.  

 
- Members of the YCG have worked with Words Over Weapons (WOW), a Home 

Office-funded project aimed at raising awareness of knife crime. These young 
people have gone on to become WOW ambassadors and joined others to 
write poems about their personal experiences around knife crime. A 
showcase evening was held at the Y Theatre in Leicester to launch a video of 
the young people reading their poems.  

 
- YCG is currently working with Leicester City Football Club’s Community charity 

to produce a video and to run a slogan competition aimed at raising 
awareness of the impact of knife crime. 

 
Communications 
 
- As part of the Partnership communications plan, an electronic newsletter has 

been introduced to improve cross-partnership and wider communication on 
progress against the partnership plan and to share other relevant information 
and updates clearly and consistently. The first issue was released in September 
2019 
 

- A partnership logo has been developed for use on partnership related 
resources and communications have been made available to be used by 
partners.  

 
 

58



 

8. Future Developments 
 
Work proposed over the next six months will include: 
 

- Development of a joint CCG/LCC neo-natal pathway to offer contact with the 
Children and Family Wellbeing Service and referral to portage home-based 
teaching service if appropriate. 
 

- Pilot of a “2 to School” programme by the Children and Family Wellbeing 
Service and early years providers in Oadby, which will include the delivery of 
workshops and interactive displays providing advice and information for 
parent/carers to support their child to be school ready 
 

-   Adoption of the Trauma Aware System Change (TASC) Model as a 
framework for the development of a trauma aware whole system approach 
for Leicestershire 
 

- Support from the Youth Campaign Group for the programme of activities that 
will be delivered as part of the “Knife Angel” residency at Leicester 
Cathedral during 2020  
 

- Refresh of the Children and Families Partnership Plan 
 

 
Consultation 
 
9. Consultation with children and young people was undertaken to inform the 

development of the Children and Families Partnership Plan. The Children’s 
Youth Council for Leicestershire (CYCLe) continue to attend the Partnership 
Board bi-annually to share key themes for Leicestershire emerging from the 
annual Make Your Mark national youth ballot and other local consultation 
activity.  
 

10. Feedback from the consultation with children and young people will be 
incorporated into the refresh of the Children and Families Partnership Plan, due 
in 2021.  
 

 
Conclusion 
 
11. The Committee is asked to consider the update on the Plan. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   

 
12. There are no specific equality or human rights implications arising from this 

report. The Partnership has an interest in ensuring that there are effective 
arrangements in place so that the services provided meet the identified needs 
of local children, young people and families.  An EHIRA assessment has been 
carried out in relation to the impacts of the Plan. 

 

59



 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

13. The purpose of the Plan is to improve outcomes for children and young people 
and their families and to use partnership resources as effectively as possible. 

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14. None 
 
Background Papers 
 

Children and Families Partnership Plan - www.leicestershire.gov.uk/LCFP 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 3052649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Liz Perfect 
Head of Service - Commissioning & Planning 
Tel: 0116 3054814 
Email: liz.perfect@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mala Razak 
Children and Families Partnership Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 8055 
Email: mala.razak@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

60

http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/LCFP


 

 

 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE  
 

2 JUNE 2020 
 

CHILDREN IN NEED OF HELP AND PROTECTION 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 
 

Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide  an overview of work in the Children and 

Family Services Department in relation to children within Leicestershire that require 
Help and Protection. The Committee will be aware that these children are identified 
within the Children Act 1989 and are more commonly referred to as Children in Need 
(CIN) and Children in Need of Protection (CP). 

 
2. This report also provides a summary of the Local Authority’s performance in relation 

to this cohort of Leicestershire’s most vulnerable children. 
 

  
Background 
 
3. Whilst the key piece of legislation in respect of Children in Need and those in need of 

protection is The Children Act 1989, there are many other key pieces of legislation 
and regulations pertaining to this group of children. Some of the key pieces of 
national legislation and guidance which govern the safeguarding of children and 
young people are: 

 
(a) Children Act 1989; 
(b) UN Convention Rights of the Child; 
(c) Education Act 2002; 
(d) Adoption and Children Act 2002; 
(e) Children Act 2004; 
(f) Children and Families Act 2014; 
(g) Working Together to safeguard children 2018; 
(h) Children and Social Work Act 2017. 

 
4. The Children Act 1989 provides the most comprehensive framework for the care and 

protection of children. It remains the defining document for Local Authority Children’s 
Services, defining legal statute, partnership working with parents and the overriding 
principle that the welfare of the child is the paramount consideration. 

 

61 Agenda Item 10



 

 

5. The Children Act 2004 complemented the 1989 Act and reinforced the message that 
all organisations working with children have a duty in helping to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. 

 
How Services for Children and Young People in need and in need of protection are 
delivered in Leicestershire. 
 
6. Following a detailed service redesign in October 2018, Children’s Social Care in 

Leicestershire underwent a significant realignment to refocus its attention on 
achieving better outcomes for children. This redesign strengthened the First 
Response Service and combined the strengthening families and child protection 
services to create four distinct locality service areas primarily responsible for children 
subject to Child in Need (CIN) and Child Protection (CP). One of the primary reasons 
for this was to reduce the potential move of cases and new workers being introduced 
to children and families at points that the case escalated to child protection or 
stepped down to child in need.  

 
7. It is of note that this was a significant change in the way Leicestershire County 

Council delivers services to children. 
 

8. On 1st April 2020 the Department brought together targeted early help services, 
delivered through the Children and Family Wellbeing Service and children’s social 
care services under the Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care (now Assistant 
Director for Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care). This move was 
undertaken to increase the alignment of  front-line services for children and families 
and to continue to develop the practice model across the Department. 

 
9. All data provided in this report is taken from Tableau for May 2019 – April 2020. 
 
First Response (FRCD) 
 
10. First Response is the front door to children’s social care services (CSC) and Children 

and Family Wellbeing services (CFWS) in Leicestershire and has responsibility for 
the screening of all contacts into the service, new referrals, provides an assessment 
service who respond to the most vulnerable and high-risk cases, provides an out of 
hours children’s social work team and a number of specialist teams responding to 
Domestic Abuse and Child Criminal and Sexual Exploitation. 

 
11. In the last 12 months (May 19-April 20), the number of contacts received by First 

Response was 22184. On average across the year, 24.6% of all of these contacts 
meet the threshold to be progressed as a referral to Children’ Social Care and 
require an assessment under S17 or S47 of the Children Act 1989. It should be noted 
that First Response provides the gateway into both Children and Family Wellbeing 
services (Targeted Early Help) and Children’s Social Care (CSC). The number of 
contacts, year to date, that have proceeded to referral in CSC is 5479. 

 
12. The numbers of contacts and referrals remain relatively stable. Re-referrals are 

measured to ensure that  children are not being referred on numerous occasions 
because their needs have not been appropriately assessed. Over the previous 12 
months the figure for re-referrals is 20.3% of total referrals. This is seen to be an 
acceptable measure and Leicestershire is performing well  against outstanding shire 
Local Authorities who report 21.25% re-referrals. However, over recent months this 

62



 

 

has risen to 28.5% per month. Audit work across services is being completed to 
understand and address this increase 

 
13. Once a referral is accepted, consideration is given for a full assessment of the child’s 

circumstances to be undertaken by the relevant service area.  Year on year since 
2016 the number of Single Assessments completed has increased significantly. Over 
the last twelve months 5150 assessments have been completed across the service, 
which is approximately 430 per month. This is showing a year on year increase in the 
demand on Children’s Services. The timely completion of assessments within 45 
days is measured and has been an area of focus and improvement in LCC. During 
the period May 19 to April 20, 85.1% of all assessments were completed in 45 days 
and there is evidence of positive progress particularly in First Response, where 
completion rates are in the high 90’s %. There is further work underway to drive 
processes across the Localities. 

 
14. Strategy Discussions are multi agency decision making forums that consider whether 

a child is at risk of significant harm. They, along with S47 enquiries, occur across 
First Response, Localities and the Disabled Children’s Service. In the last twelve 
months, 2172 Strategy Discussions were completed across the service. Out of these 
2172, it was agreed that 1621 met the criteria for Section 47 enquiries. 839 of these 
enquiries progressed to an Initial Child Protection Conference. 

 
15. It is of note that S47 enquiries do not always directly correlate with the number of 

children subject to a Child Protection Plan as S47 enquiries can occur during any 
part of the child’s journey.  

 
16. The number of children who are subject to Child Protection Plans is 529 as of 17 May 

2020. To reference, at the same point in May 2019, there were 443 children subject 
to Child Protection Plans. 

 
Locality Fieldwork 
 
17. There are four geographical locality areas in the county, with multiple Social Work 

Pods, based in Coalville (3 Pods), Loughborough (4 Pods), Hinckley (3 Pods) and 
South Wigston (4 Pods). From these bases Pods provide full geographical Social 
Work cover to all areas of the County. Service growth, due to increased demands led 
to an additional two Pods (1 in Loughborough and 1 in South Wigston) to be 
permanently created within Locality Fieldwork. These costs are included in the 
growth requirements for the Department for 20/21 onwards. 

 
18. Fully staffed, a Social Work Pod consists of one Senior Practitioner, two Social 

Workers, one Support and Assessment Worker, one Family Intervention Worker and 
one support worker. A Team Manager is responsible for two Pods. Two Localities 
now have three Team managers and two have four. The exception is the Children 
with Disability Service who have two Social work Team Managers and one 
Occupational Therapy Manager who provide a County wide service.  Pods are set up 
to work collaboratively within localities providing an enhanced offer to Children in 
Need and Children in Need of Protection. 

 
19. The Locality Pods undertake ongoing statutory work with children and families who 

come under CIN and CP and work with a number of Looked After Children who do 

63



 

 

not yet have a plan of permanence and are often leading the case through legal 
proceedings. 

 
20. Cases are ordinarily transferred to Locality Pods from the First Response Service 

and stay in the Localities until they are transferred to Children in Care, Children and 
Family Wellbeing Service or are closed to statutory services. 

 
21. To meet increasing demand the service has needed to develop and recruit additional 

staff capacity to ensure continuity of business. These posts have been agreed as 
part of growth monies for 2020/21. 

 
22.  As of 17 May 2020, there are 1807 children open to Locality Fieldwork, including the 

Disabled Children’s Team broken down as follows: - 
 

 North Locality :391 Coalville and 387 Loughborough 

 South Locality :303 Hinckley and 540 South Wigston. 

 Disabled Children’s Team: 186 (Countywide) 
 

Within Locality Services and the Disabled Children’s Team, 529 children are the 
subject of Child Protection Plans, 107 children are the subject of pre-proceedings, 
107 children are subject to care proceedings and 1053 are Children in need. 

 
 
23. There has been a significant increase in children requiring services under Child in 

Need and Child Protection in the last twelve months. Deeper analysis is ongoing to 
identify the trends underlying the increase and to forecast future demand. However, 
we can attribute several service developments to this increase in relation to; 

 
- The Road to Excellence- continuous improvement plan 
- Relaunched and revised threshold guidance. 
- More robust identification of abuse and risk. 
- Deeper implementation of and Increase awareness around Child Criminal 

Exploitation. 
- Improved training offer to staff to enable better assessment and planning 
- Improved communication and protocol between Children’s Social Care and Partner 

Agencies. 
- Individual service performance and action plans. 
- Increase in the duration of Care Proceedings. 
- Focus on children and young people living with neglect 
- Refocus on Children in Need. 

 
24. Performance within the service is closely monitored with all managers having daily 

access to Tableau and performance reports. Team managers, Service managers and 
Heads of Service attend a monthly meeting chaired by the Assistant Director that 
looks in detail at the performance and quality assurance activity within the area of 
service. Progress is acknowledged and blocks to progress discussed. Managers are 
therefore held accountable for driving performance. 

 
OFSTED 

 
25. In October 2019, Leicestershire Children’s Services underwent it’s ILACS inspection 

with OFSTED. The report states that the authority keeps the most vulnerable young 

64



 

 

people safe from harm. Although the impact of leaders and services for children in 
care and care leavers were judged to be Good, overall LCC remained   'requires 
improvement’ - around half of all councils inspected have this rating. Inspectors also 
praised several areas such as steps to tackle child sexual exploitation and prevention 
work to stop families' problems growing. Action is being taken to address the issues 
identified which include consistent management oversight and more prompt support 
to families. This work forms the Continuous Improvement Plan- The Road to 
Excellence. 

 
26. This inspection evidenced clear recommendations to be incorporated in the 

continuous improvement plan and is influencing the work with children and families in 
Need and in Need of Protection, particularly in relation to  consistency in practice and 
the response to children in particular circumstances, for example children within the 
Public Law Outline. The Ofsted action plan previously presented to the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee addresses in detail the work being 
completed to strengthen work in relation to Children in Need and those in Need of 
Protection. 

 
27. OFSTED recognised both in their most recent inspection and the focussed visit to the 

First Response Team in 2018 that the Council is on a clear improvement journey and 
that significant improvements had been made since the inspection in 2016. 

 
Recruitment and Retention 
 
28. One of the fundamental challenges nationally to all local authorities is the recruitment 

and retention in social work of a suitably qualified and experienced workforce. In LCC 
over the last two years this has been an area of considerable focus and this 
Committee has received regular up dates on the progress made. 

 
29. The following table shows the progress made since 2017 in reducing the turnover 

rate, the vacancy rate and the use of agency staff. 
 

 

Measure Baseline 
(2017) 

December 
2018 

March  
2019 

June  
2019 

Nov  
2019 

 Feb  
 2020 

Turnover 
rate[1] 

19.6%  
(38.8) 

13.3%  
(31.3) 

13.3% 
(31.3) 

13.3% 
(31.3) 

13.5% 
(37) 

 13.5%   
 (37) 

Vacancy 
rate[2] 

18.5%  
(50.2) 

9.8%  
(23.5) 

4.6%  
(13.5) 

9.6%  
(25) 

6.7%  
(18.5) 

 8.8%  
 (24) 

Agency 
rate[3]  

18.7%  
(49) 

17.5%  
(48.5) 

14.2%  
(41) 

16.9%  
(53) 

18.4% 
(61.6) 

 20%  
 (68.6) 

 

30.  Since then, it is important to also note that this has been at a time of growth so the 

number of posts being recruited to has increased significantly. The service has 

                                            
[1]

 

 

 

65



 

 

covered this additionality with agency staff pending permanent recruitment to ensure 

that children and families received timely services. Whilst progress has been positive 

it should be noted that the area providing greatest challenge in recruitment to and 

retention in posts, particularly of experienced staff, is within the Locality teams. 

Currently, within these teams and First Response there are 45 vacancies  Focused 

recruitment is taking place in these areas to attract and retain experienced staff, 

including being part of the national return to social work programme. In addition, as 

part of the Recruitment and Retention Srategy, a bespoke development programme 

for middle managers in social work will be available during summer 2020.   

31.  In addition, the exploration of a specialist trauma response to better manage the 

emotional support needs of workers in the aftermath of a critical incident or traumatic 

event as part of developing resilience as a department.   

Conclusions 

32. The Committee is asked to comment on the report. 
 

Background Papers 
 
33. None 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
34. None 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   
 
35. There is no requirement to include an EHRI assessment as the report does not 

propose any changes to the Council’s policies, procedures, functions and services. 
The report is for information only and details the outline of the SEND inspection 
framework. 

 
Other Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
36. None 

 
Appendices  
 
37. None 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name: Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director, Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care  
Tel. No: 0116 3055479 
E-mail: Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk  
 
Name:  Gareth Dakin, Head of Service, Locality Fieldwork 
Tel. No: 0116 3053518 
E-mail: Gareth.Dakin@leics.gov.uk  

66

mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Gareth.Dakin@leics.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

2 JUNE 2020 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE’S RESPONSE TO TACKLING CHILD CRIMINAL 
EXPLOITATION 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the work and progress of 

the Child Criminal Exploitation, Missing and Trafficked Hub.  
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) remains a strategic priority for the County.  The  

Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) CSE, Missing and Trafficking 
Strategy and subsequent action plan was launched in 2013, and is driven by the 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) CSE, Missing and Trafficking 
Operations Group, which continues to build on established strengths to ensure an 
effective multi-agency response in respect of government recommendations “to 
combat the national threat of CSE and respond to the local prominence of 
incidents of CSE and Missing children and young people.” As the understanding of 
the national threat of sexual and labour exploitation has been developed, other 
forms of criminal exploitation driven by drug gangs are now recognised, including 
the county lines model of distribution and selling illegal narcotics. The response is 
to continue to prioritise this form of child abuse. 

 
3. In November 2019 Leicestershire County Council launched its Child Criminal 

Exploitation Framework 2019-2021. This has now been adopted as the East 
Midlands Child Criminal Exploitation Framework.  

 
4. The Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) Operations Group reports to the 

Vulnerability Executive Board, a sub group of the Strategic Partnership Board.  
Members of the Operations Group are at Assistant Director, Head of Service and 
Strategic levels.  Members of the Executive Board are at Director and Deputy 
Chief Constable Level. 

 
Background 
 
5. Leicestershire County Council Social Care staff became co-located with the Police 

in September 2014.  Leicestershire Police had already brought together several 
safeguarding functions within the force to consolidate its response to CSE and 
Missing Children. Due to the subsequent growth of the multi-agency team it 

67 Agenda Item 11



 

relocated to South Wigston Police Station, which also houses the Child Abuse 
Investigation Unit.   

 
6. Leicestershire County Council Social Care staff are represented within the unit 

replicating the enhanced response to CSE and Missing for cases of Domestic 
Abuse. The Out of Hours service is also embedded within the hub.  This approach 
provides an environment that encourages collaborative information sharing and 
combined risk assessment, resulting in live time activity  led jointly by Social Care 
and the Police.  

 
7. The CSE and Missing team received funding from a growth bid in June 2015 

which enabled the appointment of a CSE Co-ordinator. In October 2015, funding 
from a joint LSCB partnership bid was secured from the LLR Strategic Partnership 
Development Fund (SPDF) which was led by the County Council on behalf of the 
partnership. The SPDF project concluded in March 2018. As host to the project 
the County Council has provided further opportunities of redeployment for the staff 
involved. 

 
8. The remaining components supported by the SPDF project are as follows: 

 

 CSE Police Analyst (Nov 2016-2021) continues to interrogate and analyse 
the combined partnership data to assist strategic leads targeting resources 
and tactically responding to the prevention of CSE. The analyst completes 
complex association charts, suspect profiles, and the analysis of phone 
data on live investigations. This identifies  online offences, associations and 
locations of victims and perpetrators of CSE. Analytical support is also 
provided to the Child Abuse Investigation Unit and the Modern Slavery 
Team. The analytical capability around evidential products produced for 
court exhibits and carrying out intelligence development work continues to 
be developed to support successful prosecutions.  

 

 Specialist CSE nurse (July 2016-March 2021) maintains an electronic 
flagging system on children’s health records for those at high risk of CSE. 
This helps to raise awareness around referrals and provide consultation 
with health and social care colleagues. It also identifies and refers children 
to support and recovery services. A CSE pathway and checklist has been 
developed to offer guidance to health clinicians on spotting the signs of 
CSE. There has been a marked increase in referrals by health professionals 
and to reflect the current identification of other forms of CCE the training 
offer includes CCE, modern slavery and advice on the completion of the 
Gang Association Tool. Representatives from the team attend safeguarding 
health network meetings, recently raising awareness of CCE with 
emergency and unscheduled health settings.  

 
From October 2019 a direct pathway to sexual health services for  
vulnerable children has extended to a set day each month when CSE social 
workers support attendance at sexual health appointments. 

 

 Missing & Safeguarding Coordinator (April 2019-2020) was secured by a 
County Council Social Worker already established within the hub. This 
seconded post was funded by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC) and was an LLR post situated within the Missing 

68



 

from Home Police Team within the hub. The Coordinator’s role was to 
establish professional links with Children’s Homes and other providers to 
strengthen their response to supporting children vulnerable to all forms of 
exploitation. Partnership guidance has been developed alongside 
Leicestershire police to promote providers’ responsibility to notify the local 
authority of children coming into their care. It also provides guidance for the 
completion of referrals and reporting missing children. The Coordinator was 
also monitoring the Return Interview provision and the completion of the 
National Referral Mechanism (National Crime Agency) to assist in the 
identification of victims of trafficking. The funding has now ended for the 
post. 

 

 Leicestershire County Council recognised the value of this post and has 
supported the Social Worker in returning to his permanent role within the 
CSE Team but continuing to cover the missing coordinator role. A youth 
worker has been covering this post and will be maintained in this seconded 
position until the end of July when this arrangement will be reviewed.  This 
worker will continue to respond to the missing children placed within the 
County. It is imperative that the collaborative approach to missing children 
is continued along with analysing the partnership data to help with the 
response to individual needs and wider issues. 
 

 Child Criminal Exploitation Coordinator (June 2019- June 2020) is the 
former Detective Inspector of the CSE hub and the main role was to 
develop and deliver the CCE LLR action plan. Each authority has a 
Framework and pathway to services, sharing a single definition of CCE and 
a joint assessment tool. The police risk assessment takes account of the 
information and overlays police information as part of the daily partnership 
risk management meetings.     

 
9. The multi-agency approach to understanding and responding to children who are 

at risk of CCE and those who go missing from home, care or education continues 
to disrupt, investigate and respond to the circumstances that cause children to be 
exploited and exposed to abusive situations.  

 
10. A new multi-agency team of experts represent the “National County Lines 

Coordination Centre”, supported by the National Crime Agency, and are working 
to develop the national intelligence picture of the complexity and scale of the 
threat. There are more than 1000 lines in operation nationally with links to 
increasing levels of serious violence.  Over 200 people have been arrested for 
drug related offences during weeks of intensification under Operation Lionheart 
and there have been significant convictions for some young adults. This inevitably 
left gaps within the drugs manufacturing and distribution model but intelligence 
suggests that younger family members have filled these. It is possible that there 
could be  an increase in the level of violence as some of the initial instigators are 
due for release. This continues to be monitored with partners.     

 
11. There is a collaborative approach in the Charnwood district to identify those at risk 

and those vulnerable to recruitment locally by organised crime groups. CCE is 
devastating, leaving families isolated and communities living in fear. The threat of 
violence, including sexual violence, is common and the bind of debt bondage, 
coercive control and intimidation are integral to gain compliance and territorial 

69



 

control. Work is taking place to learn more about the cohort of children, why they 
are members of gangs and how to keep them safe.  

 
Performance and Activity: Quarter 3 2019/20 

 
12. A range of data is collected on behalf of the multi-agency CCE team on a quarterly 

basis and analysed by Leicestershire County Council’s Business Intelligence 
Service. The themes covered are CSE referrals, the profiling of both victims and 
perpetrators of CSE and the identification and monitoring of the response to 
children who are missing from home. CCE referrals and outcomes are collated 
(from 2019/20)   

 
13. This is the third quarter that CCE referrals are being reported separately. The 

numbers have steadily risen from 30 children in Q1 to 53 children in Q3. The main 
source of referrals is Children’s Social Care (89%). An association mapping tool 
was completed for 77% of these cases. In terms of gender, 49 of the 53 were male 
and four were female. The predominant age was 15-16 years, although national 
profiling of CCE suggests the targeted age is 14-17 years. In Leicestershire 11% 
of referrals were from BME backgrounds, broadly reflecting the county youth 
population. Charnwood continues to have the highest number of cases during Q3, 
although the district’s higher population should be noted.     

 
14. Four of the 53 children were Looked After Children (LAC). In Q3 over half of these 

children were reported missing, an indicator of increased vulnerability and 
exposure to being exploited.  Young people on the periphery of ASB and 
gang/group activity are often left unreported. It is possible to see parallels with 
CSE a decade ago, before children being sexually exploited were starting to be 
recognised as victims and not facilitators or perpetrators.  Leicestershire  adopts 
the inclusive approach of “Child First, Offender second”.  

 
15. In respect of working together to make an offer to identified vulnerable young 

people, the County Council continues to develop its assets alongside the Youth 
Offending Service.  During Q3, 15% of children reported had current or previous 
involvement with YOS. The Service Manager from YOS and the Service Manager 
from the CCE Team are working closely under the guidance of the Senior 
Management Team to align services, with a focus on contextual safeguarding. 
Work is taking place to begin to estimate the level of gang violence in the area and 
it is known that at least half of the children that offend are being supported by 
Children’s Social Care.  

 
16. The number of CSE referrals across LLR was 117 during Q3,  which corresponds 

with the long-term quarterly average. Looking at the rate of CSE referrals over the 
past twelve months per 10,000 population, Leicester City and Leicestershire are 
very similar. For Leicestershire County Council (LCC) the number of referrals over 
the past twelve months is 304. There remains significant differences between the 
City and County in terms of the assessed level of risk. In LCC the largest category 
is the lower “at risk” and this has been the case for the past three years. This 
would indicate that LCC is identifying children at an early stage of vulnerability.     

 
17. Risk assessment tools are completed for all referrals in Leicestershire. More than 

one referral outcome can be selected for individual referrals. In LCC 207 cases 
were subject to consultation during Q3, including those cases considered at the 

70



 

daily risk management meeting. A total of 17 cases were allocated, 16 led to no 
further action, 12 cases led to joint Section 47 enquiries and seven received the 
six weeks prevention pack.  

 
18. In terms of the model of CSE, “online” activity remains the largest category 

followed by the “boyfriend girlfriend model”. The “party model” has recently 
reduced, largely in line with the COVID-19 outbreak.  This relates to an 
environment such as a flat, park, recruiting ground, for children to socialise and 
have access to alcohol, drugs and tobacco. Sexualised behaviour between peers 
or children and adults is normalised, and psychologically the child may believe 
they are consenting to abuse due to physical/emotional conditioning. 

 
19. Social Care continue to remain the highest source of referrals during this quarter.  

Over the past year Leicestershire received a consistently higher proportion of 
referrals from YOS and education than the other two authorities. 

 
20. Regarding age the long-term pattern is 13-14 or 15-16 years and during Q3 there 

were equal numbers in these two age groups. Over the past four years most 
referrals have been female although LCC continues to hold more male cases of 
CSE. An increase has been noted over past two quarters and 43% of referrals in 
Q3 were male. Reviewing the long-term data for residential status shows that 76-
79% of children referred lived at home. Emotional harm remains the largest health 
concern followed by substance misuse. 

 
21.  During Q3 39% of referrals were for Out Of Area children placed in the County 

(29 children). This is higher than the long-term average of 12%. The County 
Council continues to contribute to the placing authority’s safety planning for their 
children.  Profiling of the cohort suggests that many of the young people had a 
learning disability; during Q3 this was 21 of 75 referrals, which is similar to the 
long term average. This indicates that young people with additional vulnerabilities 
are targeted by perpetrators. They may have experienced a family where drug and 
alcohol abuse are a concern as well as domestic abuse, or sometimes family 
members are already involved in criminal activity. These children are more likely to 
be excluded from school, suffer from poor mental health and are likely to have 
Special Educational Needs. Abusers using on line forums to reach children who 
may be vulnerable or just bored will exploit this opportunity to gain trust and meet 
any unmet needs of the child in question.  In terms of education, many young 
people are on roll at a mainstream school or college.  

 
22. Missing status refers to any child referral for Missing/CSE where they have been 

missing from home or care, out of their local authority area or education. For 
reported missing episodes for all young people across the three local authorities 
over the past three and a half years, the numbers indicate a general upward trend, 
although the overall number in Q3 for the three authorities is 819 which is lower 
than the peak of 926 in Q1. Three or more missing episodes in 90 days has 
stabilised over the long term. In Leicestershire the number of missing episodes 
attributed to children living at home was slightly below the previous quarter at 188 
which is in line with the longer-term average. The total number for Q3 was 104. 

 
23. In Leicestershire in Q1 the number of episodes attributed to LAC was 63, and the 

number of missing episodes attributed to them was 232, of which 168 were  
connected to out of area children placed in Leicestershire. In Q3 the number of 

71



 

LAC missing was 57 children, while 30 were Out of Area and amounted to 62 
episodes.  27 of these were Leicestershire children (107 episodes). Leicestershire 
continues to consult with placing authorities around safety planning and the 
sustainability of isolated vulnerable children being placed without any local 
connection.     

 
24. In Leicestershire during Q3, 286 missing interviews were completed, of which all 

were undertaken within 72 hours.  
 
25. From a health perspective across the three local authorities, children are being 

actively supported due to their involvement with CCE. 25 children are currently 
under the care of CAMH’s; two children were in patients, some under the care of 
the Eating Disorder Team, others under the care of CAMH’s Learning Disability 
Team and some being supported daily by the Crisis Intervention Team. Out of the 
25 new children open to the CCE Team during Q3, 13 were already under 
CAMH’s care, several of whom have a diagnosis of ADHD and two are awaiting 
neurodevelopment assessments.   

 
26.  These children do not have a voice and many who identify with a gang or group 

feel they have no choice or better option. Some are groomed and exploited by 
gangs but never identify as members. These are the children who are most 
vulnerable and at risk, and are regarded as collateral by perpetrators.  

 
Developments 

 
27. The multi-agency approach to understand and respond to children who are at risk 

of CCE and those that go missing from home, care or education continues to 
disrupt, investigate and respond to the circumstances that cause children to be 
vulnerable to abusive situations. This critical area of safeguarding needs specialist 
knowledge and partnership collaboration from first disclosure through a complex 
judicial process and access to post abuse therapeutic help. 

 
28. The indicators and vulnerabilities in respect of criminal exploitation are not 

dissimilar to the identification of CSE: Missing from home or education, arrested in 
possession of drugs or a bladed article, additional phones, unexplained injuries, 
found in “cuckooed” properties or “trap houses”.   

 
29. Leicestershire County Council continues to prioritise the identification of the 

exploitation of vulnerable children. Multiagency training on vulnerable children and 
adults is now delivered across the LLR partnership, in order to recognise that  
young people transitioning to adulthood are particularly susceptible to predatory 
adults. Adult safeguarding social workers, Turning Point and housing are now 
regular attendees at CCE meetings.    

 
30. The Service Manager for the multi-agency hub and fieldwork represents 

Leicestershire County Council on the Violence Reduction Network Panel, working 
with Leicestershire police to produce a profile of a child vulnerable to CCE. This 
was a local case study and tracked the child’s history from the age of four to 
eighteen. This was to demonstrate the complexities of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACE’s), the impact of childhood trauma and the contextual risk 
outside the family unit. A public health approach is hoped to empower parents, 
professionals and communities to identify the signs of criminal exploitation.  

72



 

 

Learning and Priorities 
 
31. Criminal exploitation is now a priority for the CSE hub. Criminal activity, county 

lines, groups and gangs are becoming a significant feature, particularly for the 
children who are regularly missing. County lines is a term used to describe gangs 
and organised criminal networks involved in the importing and exporting of illegal 
drugs in the UK. The county line refers to a dedicated mobile telephone number to 
order drugs and direct distribution. The exploitation of children and vulnerable 
adults to move, store, and circulate drugs is its mainstay.   

 
 

32. The term county lines is used to describe situations where young people may be 
internally trafficked for the purposes of criminal exploitation. It is  believed that 
children are being used as runners, cutting and bagging drugs, collecting debts 
and cuckooing premises. Young children are regarded as “clean skins” as they 
often haven’t come to the attention of the courts, receive lesser sentences and are 
easier to groom, isolate and manipulate and encourage into debt bondage. 

 
33. Due to the success of two films regarding CSE and online grooming, produced by 

Leicestershire Police in consultation with LCC, the Violence Reduction Unit has 
commissioned a CCE video targeted at trusted adults. The initial concept is based 
around a narrative of ‘are you listening to children?’ Its shock value is how simple 
it is for children to become involved in criminal activity with the point being that 
trusted adults should be actively screening for signs of grooming and exploitation. 
This is in the early stages of development     

 
34. Leicestershire has delivered the Leicestershire County Council Child Criminal 

Exploitation Framework 2019-2021. This will ensure a coordinated response to 
identify risk and offer safety and support to those already at risk of harm. This 
legislative framework will assist LCC alongside the CCE Regional Standards in 
identifying local supply and demand in relation to the drug dealing business model, 
promote a collaboration and open lines of communication particularly around cross 
regional criminal activity and strengthen the County’s multi agency early 
intervention strategies to steer children away from county lines, gangs and knife 
crime. 

 
35. The Regional East Midlands Child Exploitation Framework should ensure both a 

local and regional response that is coordinated for children at risk of all forms of 
CCE. This will be implemented through robust multi agency resources, the 
implementation of effective guidance and the continuous roll out of CCE multi 
agency training. 

 
36. Leicestershire Children and Family Services has worked well with partners to raise 

the profile and tackle Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing.  CCE is now regarded 
in the wider context of child exploitation encompassing criminal exploitation, 
trafficking, modern slavery and sexual violence and abuse. 

 
37. Leicestershire County Council will ensure that the CCE Framework is aligned to 

the CSE, Early Intervention, Domestic Abuse and Missing strategies. An LLR 
delivery plan is being progressed and overseen by the LLR CCE Coordinator. The 

73



 

police response is aligning to identify threat and risk through the hub partnership 
and will expand later this year.   

 
38. Whilst parents will be doing all they can to support their children through this 

critical period of uncertainty it is necessary to remain mindful that children will 
have increased access to their mobile phones, devices and gaming portals. 
Perpetrators using online forums to reach children will have more time to gain trust 
and meet potential unmet needs of children.  Leicestershire police have reported 
that there is a 93% increase in offences of indecent images online. LCC will 
encourage parents and carers to “Spot the Signs” of risky suspicious behaviour 
and have encouraged the workforce to promote the ThinkuKnow education 
package from the National Crime Agency CEOP Command. LCC is also 
promoting the #LookCloser# campaign to encourage both professionals and 
members of the public to spot children that may be exposed to exploitation.  
Warning Zone is supporting the service and will offer consultation on complex 
online coercion cases to professionals. 

 
39. Work on ways to involve parents when things go wrong to develop their 

understanding of the child’s landscape. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications  
 
40. The CSE Hub is committed to equality and ensuring the human rights of all users 

and, in delivering the service, adheres to the Equality and Human Rights Act. The 
Hub receives quality and up to date data which is analysed to determine any areas 
that are underrepresented and may need a stronger focus. As such, in 2018, the 
Hub has a targeted plan to respond to this by raising awareness of and supporting 
males who are experiencing CSE, as evidence suggests that they are less likely to 
seek help. Leicestershire partners will join with regional colleagues in this work.  

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Sharon Cooke 
Assistant Director Targeted Early Help & Children’s Social Care 
Email: Sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk 
Tel:  0116 305 5479 
 
Gareth Dakin 
Head of Service, Field Work (Social Care) 
Email: Gareth.Dakin@leics.gov.uk  
Tel:  0116 305 6552 
 
Donna Smalley 
Service Manager, Screening Team, First Response, Child Criminal Exploitation, 
Missing from home, Domestic Abuse & Out of Hour’s. 
Email: Donna.Smalley@leics.gov.uk 
Tel: 0116 305 5661 

74

mailto:Sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Gareth.Dakin@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.Smalley@leics.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2020.
	8 Draft Children and Family Service Departmental Plan 2020/23.
	EHIRA for CFS Dept Plan 2020-23 FINAL Signed 06.05.2020
	CFS Dept Plan 2020-23

	9 Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018/21: Progress Update.
	10 Children in Need of Help and Protection.
	11 Leicestershire's Response to Tackling Child Criminal Exploitation.

